National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania v. Tyc...ated Security, LLC et al Doc. 323

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 13-CIV-80371-BLOOM/Valle

NATIONAL UNION FIRE INSURANCE

COMPANY OF PITTSBURGH, as

subrogee Eli Lilly and Company,
Plaintiff,

V.

TYCO INTEGRATED SECURITY, LLCegt al,

Defendants.
/

ORDER ON MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

This matter is before the Court upon Defendamyco Integrate&ecurity LLC and ADT
Security Services Inc., a subsidiary of Tyco Internatidrtd., Co.’s Motion for Summary
Judgment, ECF No. [176] (“Tyco MSJ”) and Piafif National Union Fire Insurance Company
of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, as subrogeeEbfLilly and Company’s Motion for Summary
Judgment, ECF No. [189] (“NU MSJ") (collectly, the “Motions”). The Court has reviewed
the Motions, the parties’ submissions in support and opposition thereto, the record in this case,
and is otherwise fully advised. For the reasthrasg follow, National Union’s Motion is denied.
Tyco’s Motion is granted with respect to Cowitl of the Amended Complaint but denied in all

other respects.
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[. INTRODUCTION

Defendants, Tyco Integrated Security LL@JaADT Security Services Inc., a subsidiary
of Tyco International Ltd.,Co. (collectively, “Tyco”)} provides premises security and
monitoring equipment under separate contradth ®li Lilly and Company (hereinafter, “Eli
Lilly”) for its sales offices and distribution wdreuses. Amended Complaint, ECF No. [27] at |
18. On March 14, 2010 at approximately 3:40.almrglars robbed an Eli Lilly warehouse in
Enfield, Connecticut (the “Enfield Facility,")stealing pharmaceuticals valued in excess of
$60,000,000. See id.at § 51. According to the Amend&bmplaint, the burglars avoided
detection by utilizing details of the EnfielFacility’s layout andvulnerabilities of the
surveillance and intrusion detection systems outlined by Tyco in a confidential system proposal
generated in 2010 (the “2010 Catential System Proposal”)ld. at  55. As a result, Plaintiff
National Union Fire Insuranc€ompany of Pittsburgh, Pennsyhia (hereinafter, “National
Union”), as subrogee of Eli Lilly, commenced this action on April 16, 2013, asserting claims
against Tyco fonegligence (Count 1), failure to safeguarohfidential information (Count II),
and failure to disclose/warn (Coulk), stemming from Tyco’s #&ged inability to maintain the
security of the confidential information comtad in the 2010 Confidéial System ProposalSee
Amend. Compl., ECF No. [27] at {1 94-144. Auohally, National Union contends that Tyco
violated the Florida Deceptive and Unfairafle Practices Act (“FDUTPA”) by making false
claims of “fidelity and care with regard tofsguarding Eli Lilly’'s security systems,” and made
untrue representations regarding tompany’s nature as “safespensible, state of the art, and

as possessing specialized knowledge and expartsecurity safety agpment and monitoring

1 In October 2012, Tyco split from ADT SecuriBervices, Inc. (“ADT”) and the two are now
distinct legal entities. Howeveigr the sake of simplicity, thi®rder references only “Tyco.”
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systems capable of safeguarding the confidentiality of Eli Lilly’s security infrastructure and
existing system” (Count VII)Id. at 11 164-73.

After substantial discoverynd pre-trial litigation, the parties now move for summary
judgment on issues concerning wiet Florida or Connecticut laapplies, the application of a
contractual subrogation waiver, cathe sufficiency of evidencas to causation, damages, and
National Union’s claim based on FDUTP/A&eeMotions, ECF Nos. [176] and [189]. Following
review of the vast record prested, the Court finds that National Union’s FDUTPA claim is the
only issue susceptible to judgment as a matter of law.

. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

At the outset, this Court is obligated ¢éapress concern regardirihe presentation of
evidence in this matter. A summary judgrhemovant's initial burden consists of a
“responsibility [to] inform [ ] the . . . court dhe basis for its motion dn[to] identify[ ] those
portions of ‘the pleadings, depositions, answvérs interrogatories, and admissions on file,
together with the affidavits, if any,” which it lleves demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue
of material fact.” Fitzpatrick v. City of Atlanta2 F.3d 1112, 1115 (11th Cir. 1993) (quoting
Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986)). Althoutite Court has required the parties
to submit indices to their submissions in ordeaitbin the Court’s dissection of the voluminous
record, the Court has, nonetredeencountered a variety of deabes in properly reviewing this
case. As arepresentative example, National Uimoits Statement of Facts, asserts that the “IT

information produced in this matter was gadlief] ‘at the Tyco facility in Boca.” See

2 National Union also pursuedlaims premised on theories of fraud and negligent
misrepresentationSeeAmend. Compl., ECF No. [27] & 127-163 (Counts IV through VII).

On March 4, 2014, Judge Kenneth A. Marra dismissed these for failure to plead them with
specificity pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(3eeECF No. [66] at 13-14. Dismissal was made
without prejudice and Judge Marra granted leave to amiehdNational Union never exercised
their option to amend and, as such, those claims have been abandoned.
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Plaintiff's Statement of Undmited Material Facts, ECF Nfl90] (“NU SOF”) at § 29. This
simple assertion cites threghgbits in support, totaling ovahree hundred pages of deposition
testimony. SeeECF Nos. [173-4], [173-5]and [173-6]. The single pcite included with the
statement not only references the improper doekéty related to the quotation, but also the
incorrect page of the correct docket entryfeCF No. [173-5] at 122:19-24. This is but one
example of innumerable instances evincingc@amplete lack of precision that has been
encountered by the Court throughout its review of the Motions. “Judges are not like pigs,
hunting for truffles buried in briefs."See United States v. Dunk8R7 F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir.
1991) (Posner, J.). “Likewise, district court jedgare not required torfet out delectable facts
buried in a massive recordChavez v. Sec'y Florida Dep’t of Cor647 F.3d 1057, 1061 (11th
Cir. 2011). Judge Posner’'s admonishment appligsequal force here. On multiple occasions,
the parties have frustrated the expeditiouslotism of these Motions by failing to specifically
cite torelevantportions of the record.

Nevertheless, the following material facteve been garnered from the parties’
submissions. The Court hesitates to use the temdisputed,” as the parties contest nearly
every shred of evidence presentébmpareNU SOF, ECF No. [1904nd Tyco’s Statement of
Undisputed Facts, ECF No. [177] (“Tyco SORjth Tyco’s Response to NU SOF, ECF No.
[246] (“Tyco Resp. SOF"and Plaintiff's Response to Tyco SOF, ECF No. [245] (“NU Resp.

SOF”)3 The Court sets forth the following relevant fdkts.

% As indicated, many of #se facts are disputed by the parties. However, for the purposes of
several analyses contained in t@igler, the dispute is immaterigbee, e.g., supr@ection IV.A.

Much of the conflict arises between expensl dhe testimony of witnesses. Absent clearly
contradictory testimony or blatant inadmissililithe Court will not discount the various sources

of evidence presented herein. Challenges e¢opirsuasiveness or efficacy of various opinions
may be pursued through appropeianotion or by cross-examit@an. Unless the aforementioned
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A. The Parties and Tyco’s Related Operations

1. Eli Lilly is a pharmaceutical company incorpted in the State dhdiana with its
principal place of business Indianapolis, IndianaNU SOF, ECF No. [190] at 1
19; Tyco Resp. SOF, ECF No. [246] at T 19.

2. National Union is a Pennsylvania corpooatwith its principal place of business in
New York. NU SOF, ECF No. [190] at 1 20yco Resp. SOF, ECF No. [246] at {
20.

3. While Tyco is incorporated in Delaware, it maintains its North America
headquarters in Boca Raton, Florida. NUFSEGCF No. [190] at | 24; Tyco Resp.
SOF, ECF No. [246] at | 24.

4. Accordingly, Tyco’s human resources alegal departments are located in Boca
Raton, and various high-level employees operate out of the Boca Raton
headquarters. NU SOF, ECF No. [190]74t 25, 30; Tyco Resp. SOF, ECF No.
[246] at 11 25, 30.

5. Tyco maintains central computer sewvan Jacksonville, Florida and Aurora,
Colorado, and other location§eeDeposition of Tom Denson, ECF No. [237-5]

(“Dennison Deposition”) at 58:7-11, 61:14-1®: Where is the command center?

circumstances warrant disregard of the matefor the purposes of summary judgment, the
Court will accepthe testimony.

* Where a fact is undisputed, reference isdendo a party’s statement of facts and the
corresponding paragraph found in tkeponsive statement of fact.

> |n reality, during the relevant time period AD¥as headquartered in Boca Raton, Florida.
ADT later became Tyco, who, according to theirbgige, still maintains its North American
headquarters in Boca Raton, FloridgeeTyco Website, Contact,ttp://www.tyco.com/contact
(last visited May 21, 2015).



A: At that period of time the commd center was located in Jacksonville,
Florida.”).

6. Tyco conducted its information tecHogy operations in Boca Raton and
Jacksonville, Florida, including vulnerabiliscans, audit results and other security
tests. SeeDennison Deposition, ECF No. [173-15] at 15:10-16:13, 17:3-19:2, 21:2-
9, 22:2-15, 31:11-34:10, 40:12-41:258:23-59:7, 100:7-101:11 (discussing the
various security ogrations) (further citations omitted).

7. Tyco’s Jacksonville office contains a datanter with “large computer servers”
running various software applications foyco, including a ype of monitoring
software. See Deposition of James Mooye ECF No. [173-26] (“Mooney
Deposition”) at 66:6-68:8; ECF No. [173-25] at 64:13-18.

B. The Contract and the 2010 Confidential System Proposal

8. On November 18, 2004, Tyt@nd Eli Lilly entered into a “Commercial Sales
Proposal Agreement” (the2004 Contract”), wherein Tycagreed to install various
security measures at the Enfield Facilithee2004 Contract, ECF No. [245-2].
The 2004 Contract was contained in multiple Commercial Sales
Proposal/Agreements and riders executed contemporane@esyid.

9. The 2004 Contract provided for automatic renewdalat 3, 6, 10, which states the
following:

In addition for the service(s) tme provided amdicated above,
Customer agrees to pay $7@@er month ($2,280/quarter or
$9,120/year) per annum, annually advance for a period of

five years effective from the tlaservice is operative under this
agreement. After the five years, this agreement shall be

® The party to the contract was actually ADhowever, as noted, the Court exclusively
references Tyco for simplicity’s sake.



automatically renewable yearly unless terminated by either
party upon written notice ateast 30 days prior to the
anniversary date.

10. Additionally, the 2004 Cont contained an anti-sulgation provision (the
“Subrogation Waiver”)id. at 3, 6, 10 (emphasis in original):

IT IS UNDERSTOOD THAT [TYCO] IS NOT AN
INSURER, THAT INSURANCE, IF ANY, SHALL BE
OBTAINED BY THE CUSTOMER AND THAT THE
AMOUNTS PAYABLE TO ([Tyco] HEREUNDER ARE
BASED UPON THE VALUE OFTHE SERVICES AND THE
SCOPE OF LIABILITY AS HEREIN SET FORTH AND
ARE UNRELATED TO THE VALUE OF CUSTOMER’S
PROPERTY OR PROPERTY OF OTHERS LOCATED IN
THE CUSTOMER’S PREMISESCUSTOMER AGREES TO
LOOK EXCLUSIVELY TO CUSTOMER'S INSURER TO
RECOVER FOR INJURIES O®AMAGE IN THE EVENT
OF ANY LOSS OR INJURY AND RELEASES AND
WAIVES ALL RIGHT OF RECOVERY AGAINST [TYCO]
ARISING BY WAY OF SUBRGGATION. [TYCO] MAKES
NO GURANTY OR WARRANTY, INCLUDING ANY
IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR
FITNESS, THAT THE SYSTEM OR SERVICES SUPPLIED
WILL AVERT OR PREVENT OCCURRENCES OR THE
CONSEQUENCES THEREFR®, WHICH THE SYSTEM
OR SERVICE IS DESIGNED TO DETECT, . ... THE
CUSTOMER DOES NOT DESIRE THIS CONTRACT TO
PROVIDE FOR FULL LIABILITY OF [TYCO] AND
AGREES THAT [TYCO] SHALL BE EXEMPT FROM
LIABILITY FOR LOSS, DAMAGE, OR INJURY DUE
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO OCCURRENCES OR
CONSEQUENCES THEREFR®, WHICH THE SERVICE
OR SYSTEM IS DESIGNED TO DETECT OR AVERT,
THAT IF [TYCO] SHOULD BE FOUND LIABLE FOR
LOSS, DAMAGE, OR INJURY DUE TO FAILURE OF
SERVICE OR EQUIPMENT IN ANY RESPECT, ITS
LIABILITY SHALL BE LIMITED .... THIS PARAGRAPH
SHALL APPLY IF LOSS, DAMAGE OR INJURY,
IRRESPECTIVE OF CAUSEOR ORIGIN, RESULTS
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO PERSON OR
PROPERTY FROM PERFORMANCE OR
NONPERFORMANCE OF OBLIGATIONS IMPOSED BY
THIS CONTRACT OR FROM NEGLIGENCE, ACTIVE OR
OTHERWISE, STRICT LIABILITY, VIOLATION OF ANY



APPLICABLE CONSUMER PROTECTION LAW OR ANY
OTHER ALLEGED FAULT ON THE PARTY OF [Tyco],
ITS AGENTS OR EMPLOYEES . . ..

11. Eli Lilly’s 30(b)(6) representave attested to the fact that in 2010, Eli Lilly was still
paying Tyco for its services and, therefpthe 2004 Contract may have continued
to remain in effect. SeeDeposition of Fred A. Larsge ECF No. [185-2] (“Larsen
Deposition”) at 146:24-147:20 (noting th&e was unaware of any writing
terminating the 2004 Contract).

12. Between 2004 and 2008, Tyco continuedntodify the security system at the
Enfield Facility by adding and removing cent@omponents. Tyco SOF, ECF No.
[177] at 1 5; NU Resp. SOF, ECF No. [245] at 1 5.

13. In 2004, and again in 2009, dy conducted a survey tie Enfield Facility. See
Deposition of Nancy Colone, ECF Nol77-2] (“Colone Deposition”) at 69:6-
73:18, 113:22-115:13;see also Emails, ECF No. [245-4] (containing
communications indicating that Tyco repentatives would beonducting a survey
of the Enfield Facility on November 3, 2000).

14. In conducting the surveys, Tyco utilizedagrams of the Enfield Facility to assess
the warehouse’s security systemSeeColone Deposition, ECF No. [177-2] at
72:15-73:12.

15. In late 2009, or early 2010, another pradosas generated by Tyco based on the

previous surveys, highlighting potentimhprovements to the Enfield Facility’s

" The parties dispute whether these surveys were conducted at the behest of Eddllyco
SOF, ECF No. [177] at § 6; NU Resp. SOF, B@O#: [245] at 1 6. Nancy Colone explicitly
states that Eli Lilly iitiated the surveysSeeColone Deposition, ECF No. [177-2] at 69:6-73:18,
113:22-115:13.



existing security systems (as previously noted, sapra p. 2, the “2010
Confidential System Proposal”).See id.at 72:15-73:12,82:2-83:20, 113:22-
115:13.

C. The Burglary of the Enfield Facility

16. On March 14, 2010, at approximately 3:40m., burglars, including Defendants
Amaury and Amed Villa, were semi-successful in stealing more than $60 million in
pharmaceuticals from the Enfield Facilitlyco SOF, ECF No. [177] at § 9; NU
Resp. SOF, ECF No. [245] at 1.

17. At the time of the burglary, Eli Lilly insured its inventory against loss and
destruction under a policy of insurandgo. 2637965 (the “Polc), issued by
National Union. NU SOF, ECF No. [190] %20; Tyco Resp. SOF, ECF No. [246]
at 1 20.

18. The intruders invaded the physical premiskthe Enfield Facility through the roof
and bypassed the variety of security sensd@seConfidential Enfield Burglary
Report, ECF No. [185-4] (“Confiderii Burglary Report”) at 3-4, 11.

19. Once inside, the intruders successfully bisd the intrusion alarm system, again
avoiding detection by Tyco’s securityjeasures, including motion sensors and

alarm trigger$. SeeConfidential Burglary ReparECF No. [185-4] at 3-4.

8 In disconnecting the fire alarm system, theliders accidentally generated an administrative
alarm to Tyco, logged as a “Communications [FauConfidential Burglary Report, ECF No.
[185-4] at 5. Pursuant to the procedure f@andling such “Faults,no intruder alarm was
triggered. See id.



20.

21.

22.

23.

24,

25.

As a result of the burglary, Eli Lillyudmitted Sworn Statements of Proof of Loss
for the Undisputed Loss of StolemdaDamaged Product tdational Union. NU
SOF, ECF No. [190] at 1 21; Tyco §e SOF, ECF No. [246] at ] 21.
Consequently, and pursuant to thelid3p National Union paid a sum of
$42,118,354.00 to Eli Lilly. NU SOF, ECF N[L90] at 1 21; Tyco Resp. SOF,
ECF No. [246] at 1 21.

The burglary was executed by a band of fiami, Florida residents: Defendants
Amed Villa and Amaury Villa (collectivgl the “Villas”), and their associates,
Yosmany Nunez (“Nunez”), Alexander Mareg (“Marquez”), and Rafael Lopez
(“Lopez”). NU SOF, ECF No. [190] at 1 Tyco Resp. SOF, ECF No. [246] at | 1.
All five were charged and pled guilty toetin crimes in the District of Connecticut
(the “Connecticut Criminal Proceedings”NU SOF, ECF No[190] at 1T 1, 6;
Tyco Resp. SOF, ECF No. [246] at 11 1, 6.

Specifically, Defendants, Amaury and Amedld/were indicted in the District of
Connecticut for conspiracy to commit théfhm interstate shipment and theft from
interstate shipment inoanection with the March 1£010 theft (the “Connecticut
Criminal Proceedings”).SeeAmend. Compl., ECWNo. [27] at T 65. On April 10,
2015, after entering a pled guilty, Amaury Mlla was sentenced SeeECF No.
[230] at T 4;see alsoUnited States v. VillaCase No. 3:12-cr-00040, ECF Nos.
[481] and [482] (Dist. Conn. Apr. 10, 15, 2015).

One of National Union’s experts, Williaorales (“Morales”), was informed by
Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) agents in Miami that the criminals “had to

have known somebody . . . [ijthe alarm company” in order to carry out the
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burglaries in the specific manner in which they occurreslee Deposition of
William Morales, ECF No. [191-24] {lorales Deposition”) at 188:19-189:18.

26. Utilizing his extensive experience in thield of law enforcement and security,
Morales formed his own opinion, concluditigat the source of the information
utilized to gain entry to the EnfieldaEility was someone at the alarm compaluy.
at 46:3-47:6, 57:18-58:5 (“It is mypinion that the information came from
[Tyco].”).

27. National Union’s physical ecurity expert, Dr. Rogedohnston (“Dr. Johnston”),
confirms Morales’ assessment, noting fHaased on his analysis of the methods
used to gain entry to the Facility, tlheirglars must have been in possession of
certain inside information.SeeDeposition of Roger Johnston, ECF No. [177-11]
(“Johnston Deposition”) at 24:1-26:5, 26:24-29'24.

28. National Union’s 30(b)(6) representativiglark Handy (“Handy”) noted that the

information at issue was available to Tyco, as well as Eli Lilly itseBee

® Tyco contends that this testimony is inassithle hearsay that canno¢ considered at the
summary judgment stage. “Tlgeneral rule is that inadmisstbhearsay cannot be considered
on a motion for summary judgmentJones v. UPS Ground Freigh83 F.3d 1283, 1293 (11th
Cir. 2012) (quotingMacuba v. Deboer193 F.3d 1316, 1322 (11th Cir. 1999)). However, a
district court reviewing a motion for summarndpment may consider the hearsay statement “if
the statementould bereduced to admissible evidence atl toilareduced to an admissible form,”
such as, “hav[ing] the hearsay declarardtitg directly to the matter at trial.” Id. (citing
Pritchard v. S. Co. Serys92 F.3d 1130, 1135 (11th Cir. 1996emphasis added). Here,
Morales specifically identified #hindividuals he spoke with; therefore, the Court will consider
the testimony because it is possible to redtide an admissible form at trialSeeMorales
Deposition, ECF No. [@1-24] at 188:16-21.

19 Although Tyco has sought to exclude Dohnston’s testimony atial pursuant tdaubert v.

Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc509 U.S. 579 (1993), it nonethséemay be considered at
summary judgment.
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Deposition of Mark Handy, ECF Nol177-15] (“Handy Deposition”) at 63:12-
64:24, 112:21-113:20.

29. Handy was unable to state tk&tent of the invstigator’'s invesgation into Eli
Lilly’s information storage systemdd. at 116:21-118:18"

30. Fred Larsen, Eli Lilly’s corporate represeita, was able to indicate that Eli Lilly
investigated how eleinic and hard copy documentsre@rotected physically and
electronically. Seel arsen Deposition, ECF No. [237-2] at 183:6-18.

31. Other warehouses throughout the counégused by Tyco were also burglarized by
the same group of individualesponsible for the burghaof the Enfield Facility
(the “Other Burglaries”).SeeTyco’s Response in Opposition to Motion to Amend,
ECF No. [112] at 2 (admitting that Tyctprovided alarm services to [the]
burglarized warehouses but denying thas$ thas any indication that a failure to
safeguard had occurredge alscAmed Villa Criminal Information, ECF No. [191-
26] at 3-4 (Eastern District of VirginiaJ-10 (Western District of Kentucky), 13-15
(Middle District of Florida).

32. Based on the fact that the common denatunwas Tyco's security system, as
well as additional investigation made in conjunction with law enforcement,
National Union concluded that thelserglaries were not inside jobsd. at 113:21-

116:20.

1 Notwithstanding Handy’s inability to identify these aspeofsthe investigation, over
objection, Handy stressed that experts vinmed to attest to such factid. at 119:13-120:1.
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The Deposition Testimony of Amaury Villa

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

On June 11, 2015, the parties obtaineddéposition of Defendant Amaury Villa
(“Amaury”) where the following testimony was establisheBeeECF No. [292]
(Notice to Court of Amary Villa’s Deposition).

It was Amaury’s brother, Defendant A Villa (“Amed”), who selected the
location on the roof where they wid enter the Enfield Facility.SeeECF No.
[307-1] (“Amaury Villa Deposition”) at 23:17-19.

Once inside, it was again Amed who wasponsible for disabling the alarm
system.ld. at 25:3-19

According to Amaury, there was nothingesfal about the mannen which they
entered the Enfield Facility.ld. at 23:23-24:11. Amed simply peered into the
warehouse through the hole in the roof &wltbwed the cables to determine where
the security room was locatettl. at 24:22-25:19, 26:5-18.

In disabling the alarm system, Amed aild the expertise he had obtained by
practicing on the alarm sysh installed on his homdd. at 14:2-22, 96:18-98:2.

In total contradiction to National Union’s assertions, Amaury repeatedly testified
that no confidential information wasiliged in executing the burglary of the
Enfield Facility. See idat 8:12-20, 25:25-26:26:13-18, 31:5-11, 100:19-25.
However, Amaury did attest to the facs lwohort and head tiie operation, Nunez,
mayhave had some sort of information:

Q: Did [Nunez] ever teljou that there was an insider
who was going to help make this an easy burglary?

A: Supposedly, because the records of my brother’s

said that there was a person that was going to give
him information from the inside.
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* * *

Q: Is it your understandg that [Nunez] may have
spoken to your brother abolkibw to break into this
warehouse?

A: It could be.

* * *

Q: And vyour brother never told you about the
information that [Nunez] told him about the insider?

A: No.
Id. at 34:14-20, 35:1-12 (objectionsnitted and emphasis suppli€d).
E. Mario Santana, the Alleged Informant

40. Tyco had a yearly external audit conductédheir security sstem and it was fully
compliant with all Payment Card Indos (“PCI”) requirements in the 2009/2010
time frame. Dennison DepositioBCF No. [246-8] at 36:12-37:19.

41. Information regarding Tyco’s customer’s premises is stored in Tyco’s Mastermind
Monitoring Application (“Mastermind”). NU SOF, ECF No. [190] at § 51 Tyco
Resp. SOF, ECF No. [246] at | 51.

42. Mastermind could be acceslseemotely via laptop and virtual private network
(“WVPN”") account access. NU SOF, ECP®.N190] at T 53 Tyco Resp. SOF, ECF
No. [246] at 1 53.

43. Until April 30, 2009, the date of his depa¢ from the company, Mario Santana
(“Santana”), was a Tyco Area Commercidles Manager based in Florida. NU

SOF, ECF No. [190] at ] 15; Ty®esp. SOF, ECF No. [246] at 1 15.

12 Amaury Villa contradicts this testimony later timee deposition where he notes that he has no
knowledge of whether Nunez told his bret that “this was an inside jobld. at 50:25-51:5.

14



44. Santana is related to Marquez, a mendsehe Miami-based criminal organization
responsible for the burglary of the Enfidtdcility. NU SOF, ECF No. [190] at 1
14; Tyco Resp. SOF, ECF No. [246] at  14.

45. Pursuant to his employment with Tyc®antana possessed a Tyco issued laptop
computer and VPN account access, which permitted him to access Tyco’s network
from remote locations, including accessvirious Tyco applications. NU SOF,
ECF No. [190] at 1 16; Tyco Rp. SOF, ECF No. [246] at | 16.

46. According to Santana, upon his departinam Tyco he returned all company-
issued materials.SeeDeposition of Mario Santan&CF No. [177-17] (“Santana
Deposition”) at 139:24-140:14. However, his human resources exit form does not
indicate whether Santana returned certaaterials, including his laptop and VPN
system access tokeseeSantana Deposition, ECF NA.73-3] at 107:12-108:12.

47. Generally, during his period of employmef&antana’s activity on Tyco’s system
was nominal; however, in the months leadingajpis departurejis activity in the
system increased significantlySeeAffidavit of Dr. Eric Cole dated March 20,
2015, ECF No. [173-1] (“Mar. 2B Cole Aff.”) at 11 43, 483

48. Between March 30, 2009 and April 1, 2009,cd{s system reflected numerous
“reset password” requests for usernames associated with Sarlthret. 1 48-60;

see als@antana Deposition, ECF Nd.73-3] at 100:3-19.

13 Tyco contends that the March 20th Célffidavit is both untimely and improperSeeTyco

Resp. SOF, ECF No. [246] at 1 5SHowever, while Tyco has sought to strike Cole’s April 11,
2015, and April 27, 2015 affidavits, see ECF |&68], it has not sought to strike the March
20th Affidavit. Indeed, on May 26, 2015, the Court conducted a hearing with respect to the Cole
Affidavits, ultimately holding that Cole’épril 11th Affidavit merited striking. SeeOrder, ECF

No. [291].
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49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

On December 11, 2010, after his emplopmeoluntarily terminated, additional
“reset password” requests under Santana-affiliated usernames were recorded,
presumably indicating that Santanaascount remained active well after his
departure. Mar. 20th Cole AffECF No. [173-1] at 11 63-67.

Tyco’s records reflect a variety of otheguests executed by Santana’s username.
Id. at 1 70, 73. All of the aforementi@hentries were submitted from a Tyco
identifier of “Fort Lauderdale Florida.Td. at  76.

Santana testified that he has no knowledgthese requests and that such requests
would be unusual, only occurring as auk of someone repgedly inputting an
incorrect password. Santeposition, ECF No. [173} at 97:21-100:2, 101:3-
102:22.

Based on these entries, National UniorXpezt, Dr. Eric Colg“Cole”), concluded
that Santana continued to access the Tiyetwork resources “for a considerable
time beyond his employment terminatiorid. at 1 84-85.

Further, Cole opines that any faik to timely delete employee access is
“inconsistent with acceptedastdards of cyber-security fd. at  87.

Notwithstanding Cole’s conchion, Santana testified ah he never accessed any
information regarding warehouses secupgdl'yco and would not have been able
to do so in the first place as it wasybad the scope of his territory. Santana

Deposition, ECF No. [177-17] a4t 130:2-16, 131:8-134:20.

Related Litigation

55.

On March 11, 2013, National Union filed aamky identical action in Connecticut

district court, pursuing unfair competition claims under Connecticut law and
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alleging that the Villas utilized confidential information obtained from Tyco to gain
access to the Enfield FacilitySee National Union Fire Insurance Company of
Pittsburgh et al. v. Tyco Integrated Security, LICase No. 3:13-cv-00329-MPS,
ECF No. [1] (D. Conn. Mar. 11, 2013hé “Connecticut Ltigation”).

56. On April 4, 2013, Tyco sought to dismiss the action, assertimgr alia, that
National Union’s claims were barred undépnnecticut’'s applicable statute of
limitations, Conn. Gen. Stat. 8§ 52-584l. at ECF No. [19].

57. Before a responsive memorandum was required, Tyco voluntarily dismissed the
Connecticut Litigationid. at ECF No. [28], ad filed this action the very same day.
SeeCompl., ECF No. [1].

The Dispute over Damages

58. In its Amended Complaint, National Union claims damages in excess of
$42,118,354.00 for Counts | (negligence), Colnffailure to safeguard), and
Count Il (failure todisclose/warn).SeeAmend. Compl., ECF No. [27] at ] 111-
12, 118-19, 125-26.

59. In preparation for this litigation, National Union retained Certified Public
Accountant and Fraud Examiner Daniel L. Cambal (“Cambal'3ee Expert
Witness Report of Daniel Cambal, ECF Ni83-2] at 7 (“CambaReport”).

60. In November 2010, Cambal began confernmgh Eli Lilly’s representatives to
discuss the “transfer-in pricegt the price to be utilized in calculating the value of

the lost inventory.See idat 15.
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61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

Over the course of many months and rafessolving any errors or inconsistencies
that arose, Cambal formulated his assessm8&eeCambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF
No. [245-13] at 132:12-134:1.

According to Cambal, Eli Lilly’s transfer price system—"a margin for Eli Lilly’s
products based on the net effective @heutilizes “advance pricing agreements
with each affiliate, local taxing authoritya an acceptable profit margin.” Cambal
Report, ECF No. [183-2] at 15

The transfer-in price “is the cost to the Enfield [Flacility [] at an arm’s length
transaction,” as verified thugh Eli Lilly’s records and internal accounting systems
(“SAP Systems”). SeeCambal Depo. Excerpts, EQ¥o. [245-11] at 36:1-23.

Based on his review of Eliilly’s accounting records and other information of Eli
Lilly and Company, Cambal calculated78.6% net effective price margin, which
excluded 24.9% for operating expensasl 4.5% for profit margin.SeeCambal
Report, ECF No. [183-2] at 15ge alsaCambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF No. [245-13]
at 124:10-12, 124:23-125:25, 126:1-15 (noting that the 29.4% deducted accounts
for “the impact of the profit and the sionot associated with the product”).

In accord with this adjusted value, thartsfer-in price, Cambal concluded “that the
value of the damage sustained as a radguhe burglary of the Enfield distribution
warehouse is USD 44,547,9104. at 4-6, 8.

Cambal’s breakdown of the valtion is reproduced below.

SCHEDULE 1
SUMMARY
DESCRIPTION TOTAL
Stolen Stock $ 41,939,287
Damaged Stock 2,443,902
Sub-Total Stock $ 44,383,190
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Building Repairs $ 20,097
Costs for Physical Inventory 2,953
Travel Expense 18,590
Sub-Total Other PD $ 41,640
Total Property $ 44,424,829
Extra Expense [Left Blank
Unscheduled Overtime $ 14,440
Freight to Customers 52,940
Additional Security 55,701
Total Extra Expenses $ 123,081
Total $ 44,547,910

67. Based on the transfer-in-price method diuaéion, Cambal concludes that the total
value of the stolen and aeged inventory is $44,383,19@. at 15.

68. Tyco’s damages expert, Richard Manning (“Manning”), disagrees with Cambal’'s
valuation, instead concluding that the treplacement cost of the pharmaceuticals
is simply the manufacturing cosEeeManning Depo. Excerpts, ECF No. [179-1] at
69:3-19.

69. Manning states that Cambal’s valuationproperly includes profit margins and
implicitly assumes that the theksulted in lost salesSeeExpert Report of Richard
L. Manning, ECF No. [158-4] (“Mannindreport”) at 5-6, 10-12. Therefore,
according to Manning, the proper valuationthe standard cost of manufacturing
the products at issuéd. at 12.

70. Applying this calcuhtion, Manning surmises thatetlappropriate economic loss for
Eli Lilly totals $4,109,396 for stolen pducts, and $257,165 for damaged products.
Id. Thus, Manning'’s total estimated economic damage is $4,3661861.

. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

A party may obtain summary judgment “if the movant shows that there is no genuine

dispute as to any material fatd the movant is entitled to judgnt as a matter of law.” Fed.
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R. Civ. P. 56(a). The parties may support tpesitions by citation to #record, including inter
alia, depositions, documents, affidavits, or detlans. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). An issue is
genuine if “a reasonable triesf fact could return judgnm for the non-moving party.”
Miccosukee Tribe of Indians of Fla. v. United States6 F.3d 1235, 1243 (11th Cir. 2008)
(quoting Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Incd77 U.S. 242, 247-48, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 91 L. Ed. 2d
202 (1986)). A fact is material if it “mighdffect the outcome of the suit under the governing
law.” 1d. (quotingAnderson 477 U.S. at 247-48). The Courews the facts ithe light most
favorable to the non-moving party and drawg@dlsonable inferences in the non-moving party’s
favor. SeeDavis v. Williams 451 F.3d 759, 763 (11th Cir. 2006YThe mere existence of a
scintilla of evidence in support of the plaffig position will be insufficient; there must be
evidence on which a jury couldasonably find for the plaintiff.” Anderson 477 U.S. at 252.
Further, the Court does nateigh conflicting evidence.SeeSkop v. City of Atlanta, Ga485
F.3d 1130, 1140 (11th Cir. 2007) (quoti@grlin Comm’n, Inc. v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. C&02
F.2d 1352, 1356 (11th Cir. 1986)).

The moving party shouldersehnitial burden of showing ¢habsence of a genuine issue
of material fact. Shiver v. Chertoff549 F.3d 1342, 1343 (11th CR008). Once this burden is
satisfied, “the nonmoving party ‘must do more tisanply show that theris some metaphysical
doubt as to the material facts.Ray v. Equifax Info. Servs., L.L,B27 F. App’x 819, 825 (11th
Cir. 2009) (quotingMatsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Gofg5 U.S. 574, 586,
106 S. Ct. 1348, 89 L. Ed. 2d 538 (1986)). dast “the non-moving party ‘must make a
sufficient showing on each essehtéement of the case for whidte has the burden of proof.”
Id. (quotingCelotex Corp. v. Catrettd77 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S..548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265

(1986)). Accordingly, the non-moving pgrtmust produce evidence, going beyond the
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pleadings, and by its own affidavits, or ldepositions, answers to interrogatories, and
admissions on file, designating spexifacts to suggest that aasonable jury could find in the
non-moving party’s favorShiver 549 F.3d at 1343. Even “where the parties agree on the basic
facts, but disagree about the factual inferences that should be drawthéserfacts,” summary
judgment may be inappropriatéVarrior Tombigbee Transp. Co., Inc. v. M/V Nan Fu6§5

F.2d 1294, 1296 (11th Cir. 1983).

In resolving issues presented under FedCR. P. 56(c), “the court may not weigh
conflicting evidence to resolvdisputed factual issues; ifgenuine dispute is found, summary
judgment must be denied.Carlin Commc’n, Inc. v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. C802 F.2d
1352, 1356 (11th Cir. 1986%€ee also Aurich v. Sanchex011 WL 5838233, at *1 (S.D. Fla.
Nov. 21, 2011) (“If a reasonable fact finder couldwirore than one inference from the facts,
and that inference creates an issue of matéai| then the court must not grant summary
judgment.” (citingHairston v. Gainesville Sun Publishing C8.F.3d 913 (11th Cir. 1993))).

In particular, summary judgmeig inappropriate where theoGrt would be required to weigh
conflicting renditions of material faar determine witness credibilitfgee Hairston9 F.3d at
919;see also Mize v. Jefferson City Bd. of EJ88.F.3d 739, 742 (11th Cit996) (“It is not the
court's role to weigh conflicting evidence to make credibility determinations; the non-
movant's evidence is to be accepi@dpurposes of summary judgment.8ge also Strickland v.
Norfolk S. Ry. C9.692 F.3d 1151, 1154 (11th Cir. 201@¥redibility determinations, the
weighing of the evidence, and the drawing djitienate inferences from the facts are jury
functions, not those of a judge, whether hesfog] is ruling on a motion for summary judgment
or for a directedverdict.” (quotingAnderson 477 U.S. at 255))Gary v. Modena2006 WL

3741364, at *16 (11th Cir. Dec. 21, 2006) (F&d.Civ. P. 56 precludes summary judgment
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where court would be required teconcile conflicting testimony assess witnesgedibility);
Ramirez v. Nicholgs2013 WL 5596114, at *4 (S.D. Fl@ct.11, 2013) (“The Court may not
make the credibility determinations needed tmhee this conflict; only the jury may do so.”).

V. DISCUSSION

A multitude of issues are presented by thdigsi respective Motions and while each
individual issue contains a vaty of sub-issues, five primamatters are presented for the
Court’s resolution: (1) whether ConnecticutForida law governs the @ims; (2) whether the
claims are barred by the subrogation waiver latatethe contract beteen Eli Lilly and Tyco;

(3) whether National Union has properly demcatsid the element of causation with respect to
its claims sounding in negligend®) whether the “transfer-in price” is the appropriate measure
of damages in this case; a(®) whether National Union has presented evidence as to each
element of its claim under FDUTPA. Th®urt addresses eardsue in turn.

A. Florida Law Applies to National Union’s Claims

“In determining which law applies, a federaswlict court sitting in diversity must apply
the choice of law rules of the forum stateTrumpet Vine Investments, N.V. v. Union Capital
Partners 1, Inc, 92 F.3d 1110, 1115 (11th Cir. 1996) (citiKtaxon Co. v. Stentor Elec. Mfg.
Co, 313 U.S. 487, 496 (1941)grupo Televisa, S.A. v. Telemundo Commc’'ns Grp., #85
F.3d 1233, 1240 (11th Cir. 2007)). i$haction was commenced the Southern District of
Florida. As such, Florida’s choice-of-law rules apply.

As a preliminary matter, a district couehgaged in a choice of law analysis must
determine which sovereigns have an irgeia the application of their lawsPycsa Panama,
S.A. v. Tensar Earth Technologies, Jré25 F. Supp. 2d 1198, 1218 (S.D. Fla. 2048y, 329

F. App’x 257 (11th Cir. 2009) (citingudge v. Am. Motors Cor®08 F.2d 1565, 1568 (11th Cir.
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1990)). This inquiry is criticahs a comprehensive choice of lavalysis is only required if the
matter involves a true conflictd. (citing Tune v. Philip Morris, In¢.766 So. 2d 350, 352 (Fla.
2d DCA 2000)). A true conflict exists where “two miore states have a legitimate interest in a
particular set of facts ilitigation and the laws of those statdiffer or would produce a different
result.” 1d. (citing Walker v. Paradise Hotel, LtdNo. 01-3564, 2003 WL 21361662, *2-3 (S.D.
Fla. April 25, 2003)see also Fioretti v. Massachusetts Gen. Life Ins, &b F.3d 1228, 1234
(11th Cir. 1995) (noting the prciple that “when the laws of the competing states are
substantially similar, the court should avoid the conflicts question and simply decide the issue
under the law of each of ehinterested states”).Alternatively, a falseconflict is presented
“where the laws of the interested jurisdictiare: (1) the same; (2)fterent but would produce
the same outcome under the facts of the cag@)arhen the policies of one jurisdiction would
be furthered by the application of its laws white policies of the otlmgurisdiction would not
be advanced by the application of its lawBycsa 625 F. Supp. 2d d218-19 (citingTune 766
So. 2d at 352). The interested sovereigng=sveda and Connecticut and, as evidenced by the
parties’ submissions, a true conflict exists Connecticut's statute of limitations will bar
National Union’s claims.SeeTyco MSJ, ECF No. [176] &, 4, 7-9 (citing Conn. Gen. Stat. §
52-584)

A district court presented with a choice ofvldispute characterizéle legal issue before
it, determining whether thissue sounds in tort, contta, property law, etc.Telemundp 485

F.3d at 1240. National Union’s claims for failueesafeguard undoubtedépund in tort. In the

14 1f there were any questions as to wiet Conn. Gen. Stat. § 52-584 would bar National
Union’s claims in the Connecticut Litigation, sughestions have been resolved here. While
there may have been a dispute over when thetstaff limitations clock began to tick, it is
undisputed that the latest ¢ould have begun was March 13; 2010, i.e. the date of the
burglary. Because National Union commendbi$ action on April 16, 2013, the limitation
period under Conn. Gen. Stgt52-584 has expired.
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context of tort actions, “Florida resolves ndiict-of-laws questions according to the ‘most
significant relationship’ test outlined in tiRestatement (Second) Qfonflict of Laws.” Id.
(citing Bishop v. Florida Specialty Paint G889 So. 2d 999, 1001 (Fla. 1980)ycsa 625 F.
Supp. 2d at 1218 (“In tort cases, Florida applies thenifsognt relationship’ testlelineated in
8 145 of the Restatement (Second)Cainflict of Laws.”). “The tet involves consideration of
several factors to determine which state hasntbet contacts with thaction or the greatest
interest in the outcome.Nelson v. Freightliner, LLC154 F. App’x 98,102 (11th Cir. 2005).
The four relevant contacts be considered are:
(@) The place where the injury occurred.
(b) The place where the conduct causing the injury occurred.
(©) The domicile, residence, nationality, place of incorporation and
place of business of the parties.
(d) The place where the relationshif any, between the parties is
centered.
Restatement (Second) of Conflictlcdws § 145(2) (1971). Furthe§,145 provides that “[t]hese
contacts are to be evaluated according to th&tive importance with respect to the particular
issue.” Id. The contacts are then assessed in bfthe following poliy considerations:
€) The needs of the interstate and international systems.
(b) The relevant policies of the forum.
(c) The relevant policies of othénterested states and the relative
interests of those states in the deti@ation of the pdicular issue.
(d) The protection gustified expectations.
(e) The basic policeeunderlying the particular field of law.
() Certainty, predictabilityand uniformity of result.
(9) Ease in the determination amaphcation of the lav to be applied.
Id. 8 6(2). Florida courts haveecognized that the protectiaf justified expectations and
predictability play littlerole in the choice of law analysis in tort casPycsa 625 F. Supp. 2d at

1219 (citation omitted). Nevertheless, in condugtthis analysis, the district court must not

“simply add up the factors delineat in section 145(2) and then apply the law of the sovereign
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with the greatest numerical totalPiamba Cortes v. Am. Airlines, Ind.77 F.3d 1272, 1298-99
(11th Cir. 1999) (quotindudge 908 F.2d at 1569). “Rather, [the dist court] must . . . turn to
the factors delineated in [8] 6 to determine ahsovereign has the most significant contadd.”
(citation omitted).

Generally, in tort cases, the location whethe injury occurred is “the decisive
consideration in determiningeahapplicable choice of law.Pycsa 625 F. Supp. 2d at 1219-20
(citing Bishop 389 So. 2d at 1001). “[T]he place of injus of particular importance in the
case of personal injuries and ofunes to tangible things.” R#gatement (Second) of Conflict of
Laws § 145 cmnt. f (citing Restatement (SecoofdConflict of Laws § 147 (1971) (further
citation omitted)). Howeveigs recognized by the Court Rycsa “it is equallytrue that the
state where the injurycourred may have littlactual significance for hcause of action, and []
other factors may combine to outweigh the platénjury as a contidting consideration.” Id.
(internal quotation, citation, and formatting omittethdeed, “[w]hen the jjury occurred in two
or more states, or when the place of injury calwecascertained or is fortuitous and, with respect
to the particular issue, beartlé relation to the occurrence atite parties, the place where the
defendant’s conduct occurred will usually be givertipalar weight in determining the state of
the applicable law.” Restatement (8ed) of Conflict of Laws § 145 cmnt. #Howard v.
Kerzner Int'l Ltd, No. 12-22184-CIV, 2014 WL 714787, at *3.(6 Fla. Feb. 24, 2014) (“[l] tis
equally true that Florida courtko not apply the law of the statmdere the injury occurred if all
parties and several sigriéint events are connectedwanother state.”).

According to Tyco, the injury that was suffdras a result of the alleged negligence was
the burglary of the Enfield FacilitySeeTyco MSJ, ECF No. [176] at 5. Tyco further asserts

that while National Union’s claims are premiks upon a failure to safeguard confidential
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information, the relief sought exposes National Union’s true intentions: to recover the amount of
$42,118,354.00 stemming from the theft. Thus, Tgoontends, National Union does not seek
redress for the injury of lost privacy but, ratheeeks damages for the lost property occurring in
Connecticut and, therefore, the Court should tileatinjury as havingaurred in Connecticut.
National Union frames the injury differentlinstead focusing on the cause of action and the
related allegations to determine that the injurgs not, in fact, the bglary but, rather, the
exposure of confidential information regarditige vulnerabilitis of the Enfield Facility. See

Nat'l Union Resp., EE No. [242] at 3;see alsoNat’| Union MSJ, ECF No. [189] at 7.
Consequently, because Tyco is headquartereBlonda, maintains a computer network in
Florida, and the purported theft of confidential information was committed by an affiliated group
of individuals based in FloridaNational Union asserts that Florida is the appropriate law to be
applied. SeeNat’l Union Resp. SOF, ECF No.48] at 1 55, 63, 64, 95, 97-114.

While Tyco’s construction is reasonable one, it impersuasive. The injury must be
examined in the context of National Union’s aotai Although brief in & presentation, National
Union’s assessment of this issue is persudsive.

National Union’s cause of aofi does not bear a substantelhationship to Connecticut.
Rather, the alleged failures and the resultingrinpccurred elsewhere. The Villas and their
criminal affiliates operate out of Florida and Tycp&rtinent departments are located in Florida.

It is reasonable to assume that any acquisitionoofidential information occurred in Florida.
The fact that National Union may be unable &cdrn precisely where and when the confidential

information was obtained is of no consequencecoTlgannot demonstrate thhe injury, to wit,

15 National Union’s initial argument containdthin its Motion for Summary Judgment and
Response in Opposition to Tyco’s Motion for Summary Judgment encompasses a mere one and a
half pages in addressing this case-dispositive issue.
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Tyco’s supposed failure to sgigard confidential information,anspired in Connecticut. Tyco
is headquartered in Florida, maintains compstawvers in Florida, and substantial portion of
Tyco’s IT and cybersecurity operations are base#lorida. These facts indicate that, more
likely than not, Tyco’s failure to safeguard the mmhation is an event th&bok place in Florida.
Accordingly, the particular issue tort at issdid not occur in Connecticut. Although the harm
resulting from the injury manifested in Conneaticthe asserted cause of action and theory of
liability did not. As presentedn the context of this case, the injury is not the theft of
pharmaceuticals but, rather, tlost confidential information®

Continuing to assert that Nanal Union’s injury materigzed in Connecticut, Tyco
directs the Court to various cases throughoutJhiéed States involving qgé&ons of standing in
the context of data privacy breacheSeeReply, ECF No. [265] aB-4. Curiously, Tyco
maintains that the fact that no injury has occurred without the misuse of the stolen data is
“established data privacy law.1d. A quick perusal of the relant case law on data privacy
reveals that courts have differedbstantially on their interpretation of whether the mere theft of
confidential information can coef standing upon a plaintiffFor instance, both the Ninth and
Seventh Circuits have held that the threat pfrinstemming from the rehse of data may satisfy
standing. See Krottner v. Starbucks Carp28 F.3d 1139, 1142-43 (9@ir. 2010) (“Appellants
have alleged a credible threztreal and immediate harm stanmg from the theft of a laptop
containing their unencrypted personal data. .On these facts, [] Plaiiffs—Appellants have
sufficiently alleged an injury-in-fador purposes of Article Il standing.”Pisciotta v. Old Nat.

Bancorp 499 F.3d 629, 634 (7th Cir. 2007) (“[T]he injtin-fact requirementan be satisfied

% The Court emphasizes that this determinationds premised solely on the fact that Tyco

maintains its headquarters in Boca Raton, Floribhdeed, situations may arise where the data
breach and negligence related thereto arises i@ distinct from the one in which the business
is headquartered. Howevergchus not the case here.

27



by a threat of future harm or by an act whichnis the plaintiff only by increasing the risk of
future harm that the plaintiff @uld have otherwise faced, abs#rg defendant’s actions.”). On
the other hand, certain courts have required aatjialy in order to satisfy the constitutional
standing requirement. See Reilly v. Ceridian Corp664 F.3d 38, 44-46 (3d Cir. 2011)
(criticizing Pisciottds “skimpy rationale” and finding that[ijn data breach cases where no
misuse is alleged, [] there has been no injur@glaria v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co998 F.
Supp. 2d 646, 653-5 (S.D. Ohio 2014) (determinthgt injury from theft of personally
identifiable information such as names and aosecurity numbers was speculative at best);
Strautins v. Trustwave Holdings, In@7 F. Supp. 3d 871, 876-77 (N.D. lll. 2014) (finding that
data breach did not satisfy injury-in-fact requirement and could not support a finding of
“imminent” risk of harm). Of note is the ElewbnCircuit’s reticence on the issue: the Eleventh
Circuit has yet to address whetlgeplaintiff must speci@ially articulate an actual, past injury in
order to satisfy standing in tleentext of data breaches or whethige potential for future harm
meets this burden.See Resnick v. AvMed, In693 F.3d 1317, 1323 n.1 (11th Cir. 2012)
(recognizing that the Ninth and Sewie Circuits have found that therélat of futurdadentity theft

is sufficient to confer standing bdeclining to address “the issaéwhether speculative identity
theft would be sufficiento confer standing”)Burton v. MAPCO Exp., Inc47 F. Supp. 3d 1279,
1283 (N.D. Ala. 2014) (noting thdftlo date, the Eleventh Citgt Court of Appeals has not
weighed in on the extent of the injury that a aoner who is a purportedatim of a data breach
must allege to survive a motion to dismiss blase lack of standing”). Absent guidance from
this Court’s governing Circuit, it is unclear as to whether Eli Lilould maintain an action for

the purported breach without feering physical damages. Givethis lack of clarity, the

Y The injury in this hypothetical wodilbe to Eli Lilly, not National Union.
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authority requiring actual injury in order to confer standing in the case of a data breach is not
determinative of where the injury took place imsthtigation. What is determinative is where
the alleged tort occurred. Hethat place is not Connecticiit.

Tyco essentially attempts to have its cake and eat it too. In asserting that National
Union’s claims are barred pursuant to the Connetstatute of limitations, Tyco has repeatedly
argued throughout the coursethis litigationthat the basis of Nation&lnion’s claims, to wit,
the failure to safeguard information, must haeeurred prior to the March 13, 2010 burglary.
See, e.g.ECF No. [32] at 8; Tyco MSECF No. [176] at 8 (“[A]nyalleged failure to warn or
the disclosure of confidential informati necessarily would have had to ocdsefore the
burglary on March 14, 2010.” (empdia in original)). The disgance between this assertion
and the one advanced by Tyco’'g@ment relating to theurrent inquiry is evident: if the cause
of action arose prior to the burglary, then the theat the burglary occurred in Connecticut is of
little consequence; the event giving rise to thkenet asserted against Tyco does not stem from
the incident occurring in @necticut but, rather, eventgrors and omissions occurripgor to
the burglary. Admittedly, it was not until éhburglary took place &t National Union, as
subrogee for Eli Lilly, became aware of the potential breach. The burglary was the catalyst for
National Union to investigate ¢halleged security breaches.

Given the fact that the Villasriminal activity and Tyco’s cybersecurity operations were

based in Florida, and providedatithe stolen information waskély obtained in Florida, more

18 Tyco's assertion that National Union wouldt have commenced this expensive litigation
absent the theft of the Enfield Facility is immaterial. While this assertion certainly holds water—
National Union, as the insurer, would have nteriest in the confidential information obtained
until the release of such confidential information resulted in its obligation to pay for inventory it
insured. It is, nevertheless, irrelevant as theft did occur and National Union has suffered
damages as a result of the alleged breach.
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likely than not, Florida is # site of the injury allegetl. National Union has not sued Tyco for
the theft of physical inventory but, instead, has etetwepursue this litigation as a result of the
purported theft of information andlated negligence. For these reasons, the first factor under
§ 145 does not weigh in favor applying Connecticut law.

Even accepting that the injury occurred @onnecticut, the Restatement notes that
“[w]hen the injury occurred in two or more stadtes “with respect to thearticular issue, bears
little relation to the occurrence @the parties, the ate where the defendant’s conduct occurred
will usually be given particular weight in determining the state of the applicable |8gg
Restatement (Second) of Cbaif of Laws 8 145 cmnt. fsee generally Pycs&25 F. Supp. 2d at
1220-21 (noting the Eleventh Circuit's emphasis on the commentary to 8§ Téfemundp485
F.3d at 1240). None of the purported doct alleged by National Union occurred in
Connecticut. While Tyco may ultimately dispuhe accusations made and conclusions reached
by National Union in both its Amended Complaint and present Méfiénhas, nonetheless,
been demonstrated that Tyco’s IT and cybersgcheadquarters are located in Florida. Any
failure involving those departmentherefore, is likely tchave occurred in Florida. Thus, the

second factor pertaining to cordualso signifies that Floridés the appropri@ law to be

19 As evidence of this case’s connection Gmnnecticut, Tyco directs the Court to the
Connecticut Litigation, assertingpat the filing of the preserdction is indicative of National
Union’s gamesmanship utilized &wvoid the Connecticut statutelohitations. Undoubtedly, the
fact that National Union first pursued this actiin the District of Connecticut exposes this
matter’s relationship to Connecticut. Further, iimglisputed that this case relates to events that
transpired in Connecticut. However, thiscf does not demonstratbat National Union’s
decision was motivated by a fear of a statutéinoitations bar and the Court declines to infer
that National Union was engaged in ‘tion shopping” on such tenuous grounds.

20 Tyco disputes the validity of National Unioréssertions with respect to any security breach,
contending that no record evidence exists datiing that the Villas were able to obtain
confidential information from Tyco, let aloneofn any of Tyco’s operations in Florida.
Nevertheless, based on the fact that Tyco mami&gnT and cybersecurity presence in Florida,
it is more likely that any allegeddmch occurred in this state.

30



applied. As noted, the Villas and their ass@sabperated out of Florida to effectuate the
burglary and were allegedly aliie obtain confidential information from Tyco in Florida. Tyco
has failed to introduce any evidenttat the conduct giving rise to the tort in this case bears a
substantial relationship to Connecticut. Wlihe physical installation and maintenance of the
security system for the EnfatlFacility was conducted in Connecticut, any conduct relating to
the data was not.

The third factor does not assist the Court snaihalysis as the locations of the respective
parties are diverse and neither is incogped in either Florida or Connecticusee Digioia v. H.
Koch & Sons, Div. of Wickes Mfg. C844 F.2d 809, 813 (11th Cir. 1991) (“[T]he domicil of the
parties is inconclusive because both states hteeest in the litigation.”). However, Florida
maintains an interest in the efficient and just adstiation of claims agaihds residents. Tyco
maintains its headquarters and a significant portof its relevant operations in Florida.
Accordingly, this factor favors the appltean of Florida lawbut only slightly.

Unquestionably, the fourth and final factonvdas the application of Connecticut law.
This factor requires the Court to factor in toeation of the partiestelationship. National
Union incorrectly assumes that the central fioraof the relationshifpetween the parties is
Boca Raton, Florida, simply by e of the fact that Tyco’selevant business operations are
headquartered there. Under the current regbisl apparent that no negotiations between Tyco
and Eli Lilly transpired in Florida. The Conttavas executed by a Connecticut affiliate of Tyco
with Eli Lilly in Connecticut, see ECF Nd245-2], and National Upn has introduced no
evidence indicating that negotiat®rior said contract took ma in Florida. Moreover, the
installation and maintenance of the securiguipment, including the survey of the Enfield

Facility leading to the créian of the 2010 Confidential Sysh Proposal, was conducted in
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Connecticut. Nevertheless, this single fadsinsufficient to overcome the aforementioned
contacts with Florida.

As previously noted, consideration of the § bffitacts must be assessed in light of the
competing policy considerations settfoin § 6 of the Restatemenfee Telemundd85 F.3d at
1240-43. These “factors are not listeadorder of relative importance.1d. at 1243. Although
the robbery occurred in Connecticitithas no interest in protectinige Plaintiff in this matter as
both Eli Lilly and National Union are not citizens Gbnnecticut. Floridanaintains an interest
in claims pursued against its corporate resslestemming from injuries sustained by others
within the state. Yet Connectichas little to no interest in ¢hadministration of claims against
non-residents arising out of conduntit occurring in the state. fteasors are subjected to the
laws of the state in which the tort was comndiftevhich, in the present case, is Florida.
Accordingly, the policy considerations undenlgithe choice of law anadis do not favor the
application of Connecticut law.SeeRestatement (Second) of Cheif of Laws § 145 cmnt. b
(1971) (noting that “the needs thfe interstate and inteational systems, threlevant policies of
the forum, the relevant policies of other interesséates and particularlgf the state with the
dominant interest in the determination of the particular issue, and ease in the determination and
application of the law to be applied’eathe relevant factors for tort cases).

In sum, analysis of the 8§ 145 contacts intisathat Florida lawnot Connecticut law,
should be applied to National Uniontdaims. After evaluating the foumntacts set forth in
§ 145(2), allocating proper weight to “their rif@ importance with reget to the particular
issue,” and in consideration tie factors under § 6(2), the Cotinds that Florida bears the
most substantial relationship to the issues presented in this Sas®estatement (Second) of

Conflict of Laws § 145see also BishqiB89 So. 2d at 1001 (“In contrast to the inflexible place

32



of injury rule, however, the Restatement ruleogmnizes that the state aie the injury occurred
may have little actual significance for the causadafon.”). Because the Court has determined
that the substantial relationship telstes not favor the application @bnnecticut law, Fla. Stat.

8 95.10 does not preclude this litigatioBee Celotex Corp. v. Meehd&®23 So. 2d 141, 143-44
(Fla. 1988) (finding that due regard must bgegi to the significantelationship test under
Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 145).

B. The Subrogation Waiver in the 2004 Cotract Does Not Bar this Action

An insurer may pursue recovery from thirdgmns legally responsible to the insured for
a loss which the insurer sidoth insured and paidSee St. Paul Fire &8arine Ins. Co. v.
Lexington Ins. Co No. 05-80230-CIV, 2006 WL 1295408, at *6[SFla. Apr. 4, 2006) (citing
Phoenix Ins. Co. v Fla. Fen Bureau Mut. Ins. Cp.558 So. 2d 1048 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990);
Ranger Ins. Co. v. Travelers Indem. C889 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 1st #C1980)). However, an
insured may waive its right of subrogation tlgb contract, and the goe and application of
such waivers, if unambiguous, is progedetermined on summary judgmergee Fairchild for
Use & Benefit of State Farm Fi& Cas. Co. v. W. O. Tayl@@ommercial Refrigeration & Elec.
Co, 403 So. 2d 1119, 1120 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981)is well established that parties to a contract
may mutually agree that one party will obtain insurance as part of the bargain, to shift the risk of
loss from both of them to the insurance carries®e also Ben-Yishay v. Mastercraft Dev. LLC

553 F. Supp. 2d 1360, 1373 (S.D. Fla. 2008) téfpretation of a clear and unambiguous

! The Florida borrowing statut® 95.10, Florida States, states that “[w] hen the cause of
action arose in another state aritery of the United Sites, or in a foreignountry, and its laws
forbid the maintenance of the action becauskpde of time, no action shall be maintained in
this state.” The Florida Supreme Court hasedothat “[tlhe purpose of the statute is to
discourage ‘forum shopping’ and tfieng of lawsuits in Florida that have already been barred
in the jurisdiction where #hcause of action aroseCelotex 523 So. 2d at 143.
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contractual provision is a ques of law properly decided osummary judgment.”). Here,
Tyco contends that: “[b]ecausectle are no claims that would nég#he formation of the [2004]
Contract, or evidence supporting a claim that \WanValidate the [2004] Contract, and because
the [2004] Contract’'s waivepf subrogation provision is bad enough to include extra-
contractual claims, the subrogation waiverlesgpand precludes National Union from pursuing
this lawsuit.” Tyco MSJ, ECF No. [176] at 10-11.

The 2004 Contract’s Subrogation Waiver is exceedingly broad, stating that Eli Lilly has
agreed to waiveall recovery rights for injurieor loss by way of subrogation.See2004
Contract, ECF No. [245-2] at 3, 6, 10. In its pertinent part, the Subrogation Waiver reads as
follows:

IT IS UNDERSTOOD THAT [TYCO] IS NOT AN INSURER,
THAT INSURANCE, IF ANY, SHALL BE OBTAINED BY THE
CUSTOMER AND THAT THE AMOUNTS PAYABLE TO
[Tycol HEREUNDER ARE BASED UPON THE VALUE OF
THE SERVICES AND THE SOPE OF LIABILITY AS
HEREIN SET FORTH ANDARE UNRELATED TO THE
VALUE OF CUSTOMER’S PROPERTY OR PROPERTY OF
OTHERS LOCATED IN THE CUSTOMER'S PREMISES.
CUSTOMER AGREES TO LOOK EXCLUSIVELY TO
CUSTOMER'S INSURER TO RECOVER FOR INJURIES OR
DAMAGE IN THE EVENT OFANY LOSS OR INJURY AND
RELEASES AND WAIVES ALL RIGHT OF RECOVERY
AGAINST [TYCO] ARISING BY WAY OF SUBROGATION.
[TYCQO] MAKES NO GURANTY OR WARRANTY,
INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS, THAT THE SYSTEM OR
SERVICES SUPPLIED WILL AVERT OR PREVENT
OCCURRENCES OR THE CONSEQUENCES THEREFROM,
WHICH THE SYSTEM OR SERVICE IS DESIGNED TO
DETECT, . ... THE CUSTOHER DOES NOT DESIRE THIS
CONTRACT TO PROVIDE FORFULL LIABILITY OF [TYCO]
AND AGREES THAT [TYCO] SHALL BE EXEMPT FROM
LIABILITY FOR LOSS, DAMAGE, OR INJURY DUE
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO OCCURRENCES OR
CONSEQUENCES THEREFROM, WHICH THE SERVICE OR
SYSTEM IS DESIGNED TO DETECT OR AVERT; THAT IF
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[TYCO] SHOULD BE FOUNDLIABLE FOR LOSS, DAMAGE,

OR INJURY DUE TO FAILURE OF SERVICE OR

EQUIPMENT IN ANY RESPECT/TS LIABILITY SHALL BE

LIMITED . ... THIS PARAGRAPH SHALL APPLY IF LOSS,

DAMAGE OR INJURY, IRRESPECTIVE OF CAUSE OR

ORIGIN, RESULTS DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO

PERSON OR PROPERTY FROM PERFORMANCE OR

NONPERFORMANCE OF OBLIGATIONS IMPOSED BY THIS

CONTRACT OR FROM NEGLIGENCE, ACTIVE OR

OTHERWISE, STRICT LIABILITY, VIOLATION OF ANY

APPLICABLE CONSUMER PRTECTION LAW OR ANY

OTHER ALLEGED FAULT ON THE PARTY OF [Tyco], ITS

AGENTS OR EMPLOYEES . . ..
Id. This Waiver, Tyco contend®ars National Union’s claimbecause the 2004 Contract is
valid®® and, more critically, the language of tBabrogation Waiver ibroad enough to include
National Union’s claims predicatezh Tyco’s purported negligenceseeTyco MSJ, ECF No.
[176] at 9-12. Yet thigs not the first time the scope tiis contractual language has been
subjected to the Court’s interpretation.

On March 4, 2014, the Honorable Kenneth ArMaUnited States Distt Judge, issued
an Opinion and Order (“Opinion”) on Tyco’s Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. [32] (“Tyco
MTD”).2® Eli Lilly & Co. ex rel. Nat'l. Union Fire InsCo. of Pittsburgh, Pa. v. Tyco Integrated
Sec., LLCNo. 13-80371-ClIV, 2014 WL 835766 (S.D. FMar. 4, 2014). Among other issues,
Judge Marra addressed an argument similar to the one currently presented, namely, that the
Subrogation Waiver applies as a baalioof National Union’s claimsSeeTyco MTD, ECF No.

[32] at 12-13 (“Because the damages National Union seeks to recover in this lawsuit—loss of

inventory and property damages resulting frarburglary at the Connecticut Warehouse where

22 National Union disputes whether the 2004 Contveas in effect at th time of the burglary.
SeeAmend. Compl., ECF No. [27] at T 54.

23 This case was traresfed to the undergied on June 30, 201%6eeOrder Reassigning Case,
ECF No. [88].
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Tycol] installed and monitored a security alasgstem—are precisely those damages agreed to
allocate to its insurer, the Court should dissnNational Union’s complaint with prejudice.”);
Tyco MTD Reply, ECF No. [49] at 3-4 (samelltimately, Judge Marra determined that the
Subrogation Waiver would not gelude National Union’s claims which did not arise from the
2004 Contract.Eli Lilly, 2014 WL 835766 at *5. Now, Tyocmontends, because Judge Marra
dismissed National Union’s fraud4$ed claims, application of the Subrogation Waiver is ripe for
re-adjudication.SeeTyco MSJ, ECF No. [176] at 9.

Tyco puts forth the unpersuasiassertion that Judge Mdsdolding was limited as he
was required to accept National Union’s allegatiasdrue and was otherwise unable to address
the evidentiary merit of National Union’s claimsSee id. Thus, Tyco contends, because
National Union’s claims which would potentiallyvalidate the 2004 Contradpecifically those
sounding in fraud, have been dismissed, the Subrogation Waiver is valid and enfor¢gable.
This contention misses the mark. The holding rdigg Tyco’s Motion to Dismiss was explicit,
and while Judge Marra was required to accept dllpled allegations as true, that acceptance
does not negate the fact that his decision faimedSubrogation Waiver tbe inapplicable to
National Union’sextra-contractual claims

Among other arguments in responfeational Union] states that
this contractual language has no effect upon conduct that is an
independent tort []. The Courtmgs. The contracts between Eli
Lilly and Tyco[] relate to the installation of various security
equipment and monitoring relative theretbhe allegations in the
Amended Complaint relate to [Tyco’s] alleged failure to protect
confidential information it acquired in connection with the
proposal it prepared to do future work for Eli Lilly; [Tyco’s]
alleged failure to warn Eli Lil} about the other invasions; and
[Tyco’s] alleged misrepresentationselative thereto. None of
these relate to the contracts containing the anti-subrogation

provision. The anti-subrogation clause the contract does not,
therefore, preclude the instant action.
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Eli Lilly, 2014 WL 835766 at *5 (emphasis added).efBifiore, Judge Marra’s decision was not
predicated on the 2004 Contract’s validity @hd decision to dismiss National Union’s fraud-
based claims was immaterial to the determimategarding the applicdlty of the Subrogation
Waiver. See idat *5, 7. Rather, Judge Marra ascerdithat National Umin’s claims pursued
under a theory of negligence existadependent of the 2004 Contra8ee id.

Nothing in Judge Marra’s Opinion indicatémt the decision was bound by the fact that
National Union’s fraud claims mayave affected the lidity of the 2004 Contract. The decision
expresses that National Uniorc&aims sounding in negligenaxist independent of the 2004
Contract. See idat *5. Indeed, Judge Marra noted thalight of the fact that National Union’s
negligence claims were separate and distimoinfthe 2004 Contract, he declined to address
whether the 2004 Contract was in effattthe time of the burglaryld. at *5 n.6. This finding
conforms to Florida law, which recognizes tHhatt claims may exist independently from
contractual claimé! See U.S. Fire Ins. Co. v. ADT Sec. Servs., 8% So. 3d 477, 480 (Fla.
2d DCA 2013)reh’g denied(Jan. 22, 2014Yyeview denied151 So. 3d 1223 (Fla. 2014) (citing
HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, , %85 So. 2d 1238, 1239 (Fla. 1996pwley v.
Nerg 693 So. 2d 120, 121 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997)).ccArdingly, Judge Marra’s determination
soundly applies despite the modifipdsture of this case. Tleaims pursued by National Union
do not relate to the provision sécurity services or any relatetiligations, but istead focus on
extra-contractual events, namely, the failure fegaard confidential inflonation and the failure

to disclose prior incidents. €ke occurrences and alleged fakiexist independent of the 2004

24 As noted in Judge Marra’s OpinioBpnnecticut law recognizes the sanigi Lilly, 2014 WL
835766, at *5 n.5 (citingsreenwich Interiors, LLC v. DCM Sys., LLBo. FSTCV085009200S,
2009 WL 765529 (Conn. Super. Ct. Feb. 25, 2009aving determined that Florida law
applies, Connecticut’'s interpretation of the interplay between tort and contract law
inconsequential.
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Contract. See id.(finding negligent misrepresentation to be “independent of any breach of
contract”) (citations omitted).

Irrespective of Judge Marra’s persuasion, @murt nonetheless finds that the current
action exists independent of the 2004 Contr&se Carroll v. TheStreet.com, Inslo. 11-CV-
81173, 2014 WL 5474048, at *5 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 10, 20hYi(g that a court, “at its discretion,

[] [] has the power to revisiprior decisions of itsown” and that theSupreme Court “has
described the law of the case doctrine as om¢ #pplies as much to the decisions of a
coordinate court in the same case as to a court’'s own decisions.” (qGbtiisgianson v. Colt
Indus. Operating Corp.486 U.S. 800, 817 (1988)Lompania de Elaborados de Cafe v.
Cardinal Capital Mgmt., In¢.401 F. Supp. 2d 1270, 1285 (S.D. 2@03) (stating that a district
court need not strictly adher® its earlier rulings). Tén 2004 Contract provides for the
installation, maintenance, andomtoring of a variety of security measures, including but not
limited to, motion sensors, cameras, intercomesyst and other equipment. The 2004 Contract
does not contemplate, however, any obligation on the part of Tyco to provide security updates as
contained in the 2010 Confidential System Propasal does it provide for Tyco’s obligation or
duty to maintain the confidentiality of thmformation obtained inrelation to the 2010
Confidential System Proposal or other relatedveys. “[I]t is [] well established that a
limitation of liability for one’s negligent actsvill not be inferredunless the intention is
expressed in unequivocal termsFairchild, 403 So. 2d at 1120 (citation omittéd) While the
2004 Contract may have waived any right tospiera negligence action, such action was limited

to negligence within the scopaef the 2004 Contract, specifically, negligence related to the

% Factually, Fairchild is inapposite. Theontract language iffairchild was simplistic and
failed to explicitly disclaim any potential negligen simply stating that the ‘[o]Jwner [was] to
carry fire, tornado, and other necessary insurangairchild, 403 So. 2d at 1120.
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provision of the specific security services as elucidated in the agreement. Here, the negligence
relates not to the supplying of security equiptr@nservices, but unrekd tortious conduct: the
failure to safeguard confidential information obtair®y virtue of a separate and distinct system
proposal. Indeed, Tyco implicitly accepts flaet that National Union’s claims extend beyond
the 2004 Contract by asserting tlia¢ Subrogation Waiver appdi¢o actions not based on the
2004 Contract.SeeTyco MSJ, ECF No. [176] at 12 (“Theaiver is not limited to subrogation
actions not based on the Contrantfact the Contract makes clear that the provision is much
broader, applying to: loss, damage or injuryfrom negligence . . . or any other alleged fault on
the part of [Tyco].”*® The Court finds no reason to extkethe provisions of the 2004 Contract
to occurrences and events outside shope of the agreement itself.

Furthermore, it is unclear as to whatlthke 2010 Condlential System Proposal was
intended to be an amendment aleri to the parties’ 2004 Contractam entirely new agreement.
If the 2010 Confidential System Proposal wasé&a new agreement between the parties, it
cannot reasonably be said that the Subrogafitiver, found within the 2004 Contract, was
intended to cover claims arising from a failure ralatean entirely separate contract. This issue

of fact presents yet another reason why thier&gation Waiver must be found inapplicable.

% Tyco contends that National Union hasnceded an important point, that the 2010
Confidential System Proposal wasproduct of the 2004 Contrac6eeTyco Reply, ECF No.
[265] at 6-7. In theiresponsive Statement of Facts, Natlddaion notes that “[o]ver the years
the equipment and designs were modified, equipment was removed and other proposed
equipment was installed.” NU Resp. SOF, ECF[445] at § 1. The Coufails to see how this
in any way amounts to a concession that thbr&yation Waiver is applicable. Certainly an
inference may be drawn that the 2010 ConfidérSystem Proposal was a product of Tyco’s
seemingly continuous modificatioto the Enfield Facility’s scurity system, but such an
inference would be improper #tis stage othe litigation. See Davis451 F.3d at 763 (district
court reviewing summary judgment motion draa¥isreasonable inferences in the non-moving
party’s favor).
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In continued support of its proposition thae tBubrogation Waiver applies to National
Union’s negligence claims, Tyco cites to a variet out of circuit precgent where subrogation
waivers have been enforced against extra-contractual clédesTyco MSJ, ECF No. [176] at
11. While the Court has no indication as to whethe Eleventh Circuit would deviate from the
cited precedent, these cases donsaessarily warrant the conclusion Tyco implores the Court to
reach. For instance, the waiverTiravelers Indem. Co. v. Crown Corr, In&89 Fed. App’x 828
(9th Cir. 2014), much like the one in this matter, was exceedingly broad and was, at first blush,
applicable to all loss covered Bpy relevant ins@nce policy:

The Parties waive subrogation against one another, the

Design/Builder, Design Consultess, Subcontractors, and their

respective agents and employeesabtirproperty and consequential

loss policies that may be carried by any of them on adjacent

properties and under property and consequential loss policies

purchased for the Facility.
Id. at 830. Applying Arizona lawthe Ninth Circuit held thaa valid subrogatin waiver will
encompass related tort claimSee idat 832-33. Not only was thigavelersCourt applying the
law of a distinct state, but Tyco has not presented precedent that Florida shares Arizona’s view
with respect to the breadth and applitgbof subrogation chuses. SimilarlyReliance Nat'l
Indem. v. Knowles Indus. Servs., Cor@68 A.2d 220 (Me. 2005), involves a Maine court,
applying Maine law. No indication is provided &swhether Florida or the Eleventh Circuit
would follow Reliancein finding that “public policy favors enforcement of waivers of
subrogation even in the face diims of gross negligence willful and wanton misconduct.”
Id. at 227. Indeed, th&eliancecourt acknowledged that courtse divided as to whether
waivers of subrogation can bar negligerataims, specifically, gross negligencéd. at 226

(citing St. Paul Fire & Marine InsCo. v. Universal Builders Suppl$17 F. Supp. 2d 336, 341

(S.D.N.Y. 2004)affd as modified sub nom. St. Paulr&i& Marine Ins. Co. v. Universal
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Builders Supply 409 F.3d 73 (2d Cir. 2005) (subrogatiaaiver applies toaclaims of gross
negligence)Behr v. Hook 787 A.2d 499, 504 (2001) (saméyn. Motorist Ins. Co. v. Morris
Goldman Real Estate Cor277 F. Supp. 2d 304, 308 (S.D.N2X003) (subrogation waiver does
not bar claim of gross negligenc&plonial Properties Realty Ltd. P’ship v. Lowder Const.,Co.
567 S.E.2d 389, 394 (2002) (“First, [plaintiff] gares that the subrogation clause cannot
exculpate [defendant] for acts of gross negligenceat iBhcorrect.”) (further citations omitted)).
Next, akin to the Ninth Circuit's decision ifravelers the Fourth Circuit inAmerican
Home Ins. Co. v. Monsanto Enviro-Chem Sys., & .Fed. App’x 172 (4th Cir. 2001), found a
subrogation waiver to be widely applicable to aims stemming from an existing contract. In
American Homgthe Court noted “that wagvs of subrogation should nio¢ enforced outside of
their context,” and that “remoteness from the sabjmatter of the contract will prevent even an
extremely broad subrogatiavaiver from operating.”ld. at 176. The FourtRircuit determined
that the plaintiff's negligent failure to warn sfawas not outside the canit of the contract at
issue where the waiver between the insuredtheddefendant covered loss or damage to the
subject matter of the camct “however caused.”ld. at 175-76. The Court specifically
acknowledged that the failure to warn claioncerned the operation of a system that was the
subject of the contractld. at 176. Here, in contsg the operation of the security system at the
Enfield Facility is not at issue. National Union does not claim that the security equipment
installed by Tyco did not perforproperly but, rather, tt the alleged negligence allowed for the
simple evasion of the installe@aurity devices. Thus, the causfeaction neither relates to any
failure on the part of Tyco W respect to its obligationgnder the 2004 Contranor to the

operation of any of the relatedaurity measures. Accordingkkmerican Homés inapposite.
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The Court is cognizant of the fact that unending, precedent subrogation waivers are
not true exculpatory clausésand are, therefore, not violative of public policySee In re
Johnson No. CIV.A. 04-0128-WS-B, 2006 WL 126613, at *3 (S.D. Ala. Jan. 17, 2006) (citing
BASF Wyandotte Corp. v. Tug LEANDERO F.2d 96, 97 (5th Cir. 1979)wenty Grand
Offshore, Inc. v. West India Carriers, 1nd92 F.2d 679, 685-86 (5tir. 1974)) (“[Blinding
precedent beginning withluor Western, Inc. v. G & H Offshore Towing C#47 F.2d 35, 39-40
(5th Cir. 1970), has repeatedly confirmed thaiver-of-subrogation alises do not constitute
exculpatory clauses and thus are not capthyeBisso [v. Inland Waterways Corp., 349 U.S. 85
(1955)].)# National Union does not assert that Subrogation Waiver is void as violative of
public policy or in some manner unconscionalfRather, National Union asserts that the clause
itself can only logically be applied to issuassing from, or at a mimum, related to, the
agreement in which it appears. Accordingly @ourt applies the logical principle “that waivers
of subrogation should not be enforced outside of their contes®g American Homéd6 Fed.
App’x at 176, and finds that National lm’'s negligence claims are not precluded.

C. Causation as it Relates to N@nal Union’s Claim of Negligence

Tyco next tests the evidentiavirtues of National Union’s negligence claims, contending

that National Union, despite having conducted copamusunts of discovery, has failed to locate

2" In general, exculpatory clauseg atisfavored by Florida courtsSee Sanislo \Give Kids the
World, Inc, 157 So. 3d 256, 272 (Fla. 20X5E]xculpatory clauses thairotect a party from his

or her own negligencare disfavored.”)Gillette v. All Pro Sports, LLC135 So. 3d 369, 371
(Fla. 5th DCA 2014)reh’g denied(Jan. 24, 2014) (noting that “[alises that purport to deny an
injured party the right to recowdamages from another who negingly causes injury are strictly
construed against the party seeking to be retlesf liability,” and remanding case because the
provision was not clear “that neghigce of the sort here was intended to be within the scope of
the release”).

28 Decisions of the formeFifth Circuit rendered prioto September 30, 1981, are binding
decisions in the Eleventh CircuiSee Bonner v. City of Pritchgr661 F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th
Cir. 1981) (en banc).
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one iota of evidence indicating that Tycaenduct allowed criminals to obtain confidential
information about the Enfield Facility. TyddSJ, ECF No. [176] at 13-17. An action for
negligence requires a plaintiff togue: “(1) that the defendant owed a duty of reasonable care to
the plaintiff; (2) that the defendant breachedtttuty; (3) that the breach was the proximate
cause of the injury to the plaintiff; and (4) that the plaintiff suffered damagdasenfus v.
Secord 962 F.2d 1556, 1559-60 (11th Cir. 1992) (citRgpp v. Bryant417 So. 2d 658, 668
n.27 (Fla. 1982)) (further citatior@nitted). “Failure to establish any one of these elements is
fatal to the plaintiff's case.’ld. at 1560 (citation omittedsee also John Morrell & Co. v. Royal
Caribbean Cruises, Ltd.534 F. Supp. 2d 1345, 1353 (S.D. Fla. 2008) (granting summary
judgment where plaintiff had not proffered amyidence that defendant’s failure was the
proximate cause of the injuries sustained).

National Union’s attempts to denstrate causation, Tyco assedre inadequate and fail
as a matter of law because any evidence gtdamon behalf of National Union is utterly
contradicted by the record eeitce, notably, testimorfyom Eli Lilly’'s 30(b)(6) representative
and documents filed by Amaury Villa in the Ceaticut Criminal Proceedings. According to
Tyco, any possible evidence of causation is a product of National Union’s impermissible
stacking of inferences, and, accordingly, insudnt to withstand summary judgment under
Florida law. Id. The Court addresses these arguments in turn and ultimately finds National
Union’s evidence on the element of causation to be adequate.

I. Alleged Concessions

In October 2013, Defendant Amaury Villa soughtdismiss the criminal indictment filed
against him in the Connecticut Criminal Pradiegs pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. Pro. 12(b)(2) and

12(b)(3)(B). United States v. VillaCase No. 3:12-cr-00040, ECFON76] (Dist. Conn. Oct. 2,
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2013) (“Motion to Dismiss Indichent”). By way of counselAmaury Villa represented the
following to the District of Connecticut:

Upon arrival at the Enfield warehouse in January, 2010, Mr.
VILLA and [his co-conspirator] approached the Enfield building
storing the Lilly pharmaceuticals to look through a window. At
this time Mr. VILLA and [his co-conspirator] noticed the location
of the alarm bell, as well as the entry point for all of the alarm
wiring in the Enfield warehouseMr. VILLA used this openly
visual information to make agducated guesgsoncerning the best
place to make the hole and/or enpgint in the roof of the Enfield
storage and distributioraility. This is theonly information Mr.
VILLA used in order to literally “guesstimate” where he would
make an entry point for purpes of executing the burglary.

And, contrary to the urban rumors, conjecture, and speculation
being spun in the media, Mr. VILLAd not use or have access
to_any inside_information_or_other_classified or _trade secret
information concerning the ADT alarm system in place at the
Enfield facility, on the night of the robbery. Simply stated, Mr.
VILLA did not avail himself of ag trade secret or other inside
information in order to circumvent the ADT alarm system installed
at the Enfield storage facility on March 14, 2010.

United States v. VillaCase No. 3:12-cr-00040, ECF No6]ADist. Conn. Oct. 2, 2013) (Mr.
Amaury Villa’s First Motion to Disngs Indictment) (emphasis in original). Similarly, in a
notice filed with this Court, Amaury Villa aganmeiterated that neither he, nor Defendant Amed
Villa were in possession of inside informatioglating to the security systems in place at the

Enfield Facility. SeeNotice, ECF No. [59-1] at 5%. Finally, on June 11, 2015, Amaury Villa

29 A court may take judiciahotice of the court filings.SeeHorne v. Potter392 F. App’x 800,
802 (11th Cir. 2010) (“The districtourt properly took judiciahotice of the documents in
[plaintiff's] first case, which were public recaadhat were ‘not subjedb reasonable dispute’
because they were ‘capable of accurate aadyraletermination by resort to sources whose
accuracy could not reasonably be quesdth™ (citing Fed. R. Evid. 201(b)see also Universal
Express, Inc. v. U.S. S.E,@77 F. App’x 52, 53 (11th Cir. 200§leeming a complaint filed in
the Southern District of New York to be sebj to judicial notice aa public document).

30 “Amed Villa reported to FBI Agents in Connecticut, as well as Assistant United States
Attorney Anastasia King that no one provideither himself or Mr. VILLA with any inside
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once again proclaimed that no comeintial information was utilized. SeeAmaury Villa Depo.,
ECF No. [307-1] at 8:12-20, 25:25-26:3,:28-18, 31:5-11, 100:19-25. Based on these
statements made in court documents signedhbpsel, the criminals responsible for the burglary
have openly admitted that no confidential infatran was ever obtained. Tyco reasons that
these admissions are catastrophic to NationabtJsiclaims. Clearly, these representations are
critical to Tyco’s case; however,gp are not issue determinative.

While the Motion to Dismiss Indictment statthat Amaury Villa was not in possession
of inside information, this avermedbes not unequivodglindicate thanho individualconnected
to the burglary was able to access the saBee United States v. Vill&ase No. 3:12-cr-00040,
ECF No. [76] (Dist. Conn. Oc®, 2013) (“It is not known why [te co-conspirator] targeted the
Enfield warehouse, but it later bewa apparent to Mr. VILLA that [the co-conspirator] did not
randomly select the Enfield warehouse as aetafgr the heist.”). Amaury Villa’s own
testimony appears to conjure up additional smaared questions regarding whether someone
had inside information.SeeAmaury Villa Depo., ECF No. [307-1] ad. at 34:14-20, 35:1-12
(“Q: Did [Nunez] ever tell you thahere was an insider ~ who wgsing to help make this an
easy burglary? A: Supposedlydause the records of rbyother’s said thathere was a person
that was going to give him information from theside.”). Furthermoreto give such great
credence to the statements of thefendant in this matter, whethmmade in these proceedings or
related ones, would not only be contrary te thles governing summajydgment which require
the court to view the record in the light most favorable to themowing party, but would

ultimately invade the province of the fact-findeEredibility is not to be assessed by the district

information about the security systems and equipment in the Eli Lilly warehouse in advance of
the break in.”Id.
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court on a motion for summary judgmer@ee Mize93 F.3d at 742 (“It is not the court's role to
weigh conflicting evidence or to make credilyildeterminations; the nomovant’'s evidence is
to be accepted for purposes of summary judgmerdeg; also Strickland692 F.3d at 1154;
Hairston 9 F.3d at 919Gary, 2006 WL 3741364, at *16. Accordjly, these representations do
not negate the otherwise hotlysguted issues of fact concergithe confidential information at
issue. More troubling, however, are Eli Lilly3)(b)(6) representative’s statements regarding
the break in.

At deposition, Eli Lilly’s corporate represtative, Fred Larsen (“Larsen”), was
qguestioned regarding Eli Lilly’s position on Tyco’s ability to maintain the confidentiality of
relevant information. Larsen’s testimony cledrgicates that Eli Lilly does not share National
Union’s belief that the Villa Defendants utilizednfidential information in order to gain access
to the Enfield Facility:

Q: Is it Eli Lilly’s belief that [Tyco] exposed Eli Lilly’s
confidential information regding the Enfield Warehouse’s
premises security in Florida?

A: That is not Eli Lilly’s belief.

Q: Would it be fair to say, then, that Eli Lilly has no
information to support the statement that events and
activities related to [Tyco’s] liability occurred in Boca
Raton, Florida?

A: That would be accurate.

Q: Is it Eli Lilly's belief that Amaury and Amed Villa
obtained confidential information concerning Eli Lilly’s
security equipment and monitoring system that [Tyco]
compiled, maintained, and stored in Boca Raton, Florida,

and caused that information to be removed?

A: That is not our belief.
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Seelarsen Deposition, ECF No. [18F-at 150:5-151:11. Much like Amaury Villa’'s averments
in the Motion to Dismiss Indictment, howeydrarsen’s testimony does not eliminate the
plethora of disputed facts saunding Tyco’s ability to maintain the confidentiality of the
information it possessed. While this evidence rhayharmful to National Union at trial, this
Court is not in a position to weigh evidencedairaw conclusions. Where genuine issues of
material fact persist, judgment as a matteta®f is inappropriate.Here, National Union has
presented, at a minimum, circumstantial evidencpport of its claims. For instance, National
Union’s expert, William Morales, attests to the fact that, more likely than not, information from
Tyco was utilized in evading ¢hEnfield Facility’s securitysystems. Morales Dpo., ECF No.
[181-24] at 46:3-47:6, 57:18-58:5'his conclusion was supged by National Union’s physical
security expert, Dr. Roger Johnston. JobnsDepo., ECF No. [177-114t 24:1-26:5, 26:24-
29:24. Given the conflicting testimony and unfesd issues of fact, summary judgment is
inappropriate.

il. “Stacking of Inferences”

According to Tyco, the aforementioned evidere® well as any other evidence National
Union has been able to produce with respertthe element of caation, is entirely
circumstantial. Because there is an absendireét evidence, Nation&Jnion must necessarily
rely on a “stacking of inferences” in order demonstrate causatioa,method which Florida
courts have deemed improper under certain ciramests. Specifically, Tyco claims that a jury
would be obligated to first infethat Tyco leaked confidenti@formation, ad then, upon that
initial inference, infer that #h leaked confidential informath was the proximate cause of the

successful burglary. Because National Union failsestablish the initial inference to the
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exclusion of all others, Tyco contends thiatcannot rely on the starlg of inferences to
demonstrate causation. &ourt disagrees.

In general, “a fact may bestablished by circumstantialidence as effectively and as
conclusively as it may be provéy direct positive evidence.Cohen v. Arvin878 So. 2d 403,
405 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) (quotingielsen v. City of Sarasqtd17 So.2d 731, 733 (Fla. 1960)).
This general proclamation is not without lintitan. Florida courts have found that where no
direct evidence is presented, a party may not “stack inferences” to establish an essential element
of its claim: “if a party to a civil actiordepends upon the inferences to be drawn from
circumstantial evidence as proof of one fattcannot construct a further inference upon the
initial inference in order to establish a furthectfanless it can be fourttiat the original, basic
inference was establishedtte exclusion of all othaeasonable inferencesld. (citing Nielsen
117 So. 2d at 733)Collins v. Marriott Intl, Inc, 749 F.3d 951, 959 (11th Cir. 2014) (citing
McCormick Shipping Corp. v. Warnet29 So. 2d 448, 449 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961)). This rule “is
designed to protect litiganfsom verdicts based uporomjecture and speculation.Stanley v.
Marceaux 991 So. 2d 938, 940 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) (citMgelker v. Combined Ins. Co. of
Am, 73 So. 2d 403, 407 (Fla. 1954)). However, giding” inferences is permissible when
“the initial inference is established to tarclusion of any othereasonable theory.’Id. (citing
Hurst v. Astudillp 631 So.2d 380 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994)). A pi&f is not requied to directly
establish the initial inference where it would be illogical to do so. Rather, “[w]hen [the]
predicate inference is the only reasonable infez¢hat can be made from the evidence, it is no
longer an inference but is deemed an established f&Malley v. Ranger Const. Indus., Inc.
133 So. 3d 1053, 1056 (Fla. 4th DCA 201#h’g denied(Mar. 10, 2014) (citing/oelker v.

Combined Ins. Co. of Apn3 So. 2d 403, 407 (Fla. 1954)). lagic would dictate, where there
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is only one inference and the party does not seetack inferences, the party propounding the
inference does not have to estsiblthe reasonability of the initi@hference to the exclusion of
all others. Id. (citing Petruska v. Smartparks—Silver Springs, |®d4 So. 2d 502, 505-06 (Fla.
5th DCA 2005)).

Notwithstanding the aforementioned standardnder Florida law “summary judgment
should not be granted based on a non-movant'sréattu meet its trial burden of proof on the
issue of causation.”ld. (citing Le v. Lighthouse Assocs., In67 So0.3d 283, 286-87 (Fla. 4th
DCA 2011)). Furthermore, although this Court sits in divetsiapnd is bound to apply state law
to substantive issues, federal law r@mapplicable to procedural oneSee Burke v. SmitB52
F.3d 1260, 1265 (11th Cir. 2001) (citikgie R.R. Co. v. Tompkin804 U.S. 64, 78 (1938) (“A
federal court sitting in diversity is required topapstate substantive law and federal procedural
law.”); see also Hanna v. Plume380 U.S. 460 (1965). Because issue presently before the
Court is one of summary judgment, that is, sficiency of evidencethis Court is bound to
adhere to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedi8ee Ward v. Estaleiro Itajai S/B41 F. Supp. 2d
1344, 1348 (S.D. Fla. 2008)Hannademands the enforcement of the Federal Rules unless they
are not broad enough to cover a situation.”). Hmeventh Circuit has affirmed the fact that
federal law governs the sufficiency of evidencenitbistanding a state’sidependent rule on the
propriety of pyramiding inferencesSee Daniels v. Twin Oaks Nursing Hori82 F.2d 1321,
1323-24 (11th Cir. 1982) (determining that Alabama’s rule against pyramiding inferences “is no
more than a rule concerning the sufficiency @& @vidence and therefore is a matter of federal
law”). “According to federal law there is mohibition against pyramiding inferences; instead

all inferences are permissible Emg as they are reasonableld. at 1324;see also Preferred

31 SeeAmend. Compl., ECF No. [27] at T 9.
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Care Partners Holding Corp. v. Humana, In&o. 08-20424-CIV, 2009 WL 982433, at *11
(S.D. Fla. Apr. 9, 2009) (“The Eleventh Qut [] held that inferences are not made
impermissible simply because there maytieer equally probably inferences.”).

National Union admits that there were, in essence, two repositories for the information
allegedly utilized in the burglary1) Tyco, and (2) Eli Lilly itself. SeeHandy Deposition, ECF
No. [177-15] at 63:12-64:24, 112:213:20. Tyco asserts that National Union has failed to
unequivocally demonstrate that it was not Eli Lillgelf who leaked the information and, as a
result of this deficiency, cannot rest its the@f causation on the sartion that Tyco was
responsible for the leak. Thesgument is unpersuasive.

First and foremost, as previously noteéde sufficiency of evidence is governed by
federal, not state law. Even assuming that Natitimion has not establied a base inference to
the exclusion of all other #ories—to wit, that the crimal defendants did not obtain
confidential information from Eli Lilly itself—thtadetermination is irrelevant at this stage,
especially in the coekt of summary judgment where niadk fact disputes remainRaiford v.
Nat'l Hills Exch., LLG No. CV 111-152, 2013 WL 1286204, at *25 n.46 (S.D. Ga. Mar. 27,
2013) (rejecting the argument that “too many infiees must be stacked” to reach plaintiff's
conclusion and noting that undeaniels v. Twin Oaks Nursing Hom@92 F.2d 1321 (11th Cir.
1982), “there is no prohibition against pyramiding inferencd®igkett v. United Stated11 F.
Supp. 2d 1191, 1197 (M.D. Ala. 2008jf'd, 268 F.3d 1066 (11th Cir. 2001) (“[State’s] rule
against pyramiding inferences concerns the sefiicy of the evidence, is procedural and not
substantive, and, therefore,sgpplanted by federal law undgerie.”). So long as the inferences
National Union relies on are reasonable, they may be used as evidence in opposition to Tyco’s

Motion; indeed, the Court is obligated to dradl inferences in National Union’s favor.
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Although Tyco does not explityt attempt to portray Nainal Union’s inferences as
unreasonable, given the nature of thisigdtion, such a position may be assumed.
Notwithstanding Amaury Villa’'s testimony and Tyco’s obvious protest, National Union’s
inference that confidential information was utilizexlgain entry to the Enfield Facility is not
unreasonable in light of the facts and cirstamces surrounding the break in. Specifically,
National Union’s security expertcorroborate the assertion thaside knowledge must have
been employed in executing the burglary. haligh Amaury Villa, a criminal with a rather
lengthy criminal history, has teséfl that neither he nor his bher made use of confidential
information, the conflict betweethis testimony and National Unianexperts is to be resolved
by the finder of fact, not by the Court.

Second, National Union’s presentation of expgestimony concerning the most critical
facts in this matter, whether confidentiafdrmation was obtained and how it was obtained,
constitutes direct evidence. Where a plaintiff prés direct evidence @an essential element of
his or her claim, the rule against $tiag of inferences is not implicateee generally Collins
749 F.3d at 959. While Tyco conties to dispute the admissibilibf National Union’s security
experts for purposes of trial pursuanDaubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, In609 U.S.
579 (1993), it remains a valid considigon at this stage. Furttmore, in light of the prior
paragraph’s discussion regarding #ppropriate standard to applied, whether or not National
Union’s experts have appropriately considerexldther possible repositories is not a valid basis
for finding a total lack of proper @ence on the element of causation.

Finally, the Court takes issue with Tyco’s fiamof the matter. The initial inference, as
stated by Tyco, is that Tyco, not Eli Lilly wdke cause of the alleged leak. This inference

relates to the elememtf breach, not the element of causati There is only one inference
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required of the jury to find causation, namely that the information was utilized to successfully
gain entry into the Enfield Facility. “Where there is only one infereeled¢ing to causationthe
non-movant to the motion for summary judgmelotes not have to establish that the sole
inference is the only reasonable inferenc€e O’Malley 133 So. 3d at 1056 (emphasis added).
Accordingly, there is no “acking of inferencéselating to the ssue of causation.

For the aforementioned reasons, summadgient is not warranted on the issue of
causation under the theory that National Unios ingoroperly relied on a pyramid of inferences.

D.  The Correct Measure of National Union’s Damagé$

Having found that the National Union’s negligence claims escape summary judgment, the
Court now addresses the issue of damages esemted in the parties’ respective Motions.
National Union’s Amended Complaint seseklamages in the amount of $42,118,354.00 for
Counts | (negligence), Coulit (failure to safeguard), and Coulit (failure to disclose/warn).
SeeAmend. Compl.,, ECF No. [4 at 1 111-12, 118-19, 125-2@t is indisputable that the
damages claimed in National Union’s Amendg&aimplaint correspond directly with the amount
National Union was required to pay Eli Lilly mwant to the policy of insurance between the
two. See idat § 111 (“Pursuant to National Uniorpslicy of insurance, National Union paid
Eli Lilly an amount in excess of $42,118,354.00 for the damage to real property, loss of
inventory and other expensessaciated with the harm suffer®). National Union’s damages
expert, Daniel Cambal, reaches a different amo Utilizing the “transfer-in price,” Cambal
concludes that value of the stolerdadamaged pharmaceuticals should equal $44,383,3686.

Cambal Report, ECF No. [183-2] 4t6, 8. Tyco challenges Camisaappraisal oriwo distinct

32 Tyco contends that “[b]ecause National Unioesserts will be unable to opine” on the issue
of damages and the relevant standard of,cyco is entitled to summary judgmerg@eeTyco
MSJ, ECF No. [176] at 23 n.9. HowevBaubertgoverns admissibilityt trial, not at summary
judgment, and, accordingly, the Court may consider this testimony.
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grounds, first asserting that heproperly conducted an analysistwrespect to the wrong entity
and second, that the measure of damages employed is malap®@®Byco MSJ, ECF No.
[176] at 17-23.
I. National Union’s Damages are Proper
Relying on Cambal’'s deposition testny, Tyco’s first argues that Dr. Cambal
incorrectly calculated damages for a differentnpany, specifically, Eli Lilly’'s subsidiary, Eli
Lilly USA. SeeTyco MSJ, ECF No. [176] at 17-18. @&muse, according to Tyco, Cambal’s
valuation is based on the loss to Eli Lilly USAs estimation bears no relation to the damages
suffered in this litigation, if anyld. Although Cambal repeatedbfates that he communicated
with “Eli Lilly USA” representatives and calculated damages incurred by “Eli Lilly USA,” see
Cambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF No. [175-1] at1663, his testimony alsceveals that Cambal
harbored slight confusion regamndi Eli Lilly’s corporate structure:
Q: Do you know what the name of the Eli Lilly entity that
suffered a loss as a result of the burglary at the Enfield
warehouse?
A:  EliLilly USA.
Q: It's Eli Lilly USA?
A: Well, that's a guessl don’t know that for sure.
Cambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF No. [241-2] at 1804 Later, Cambal’s testimony confirms his
confusion:
Q: | guess I'm confused then with the relationship between the
Eli Lilly Enfield facility and the Eli Lilly and Company.

How do those two relate to each other?

A: Well, Eli Lilly and Company Worldwide is the parent
company, so all the affiliates.

Q: And is the Enfield—Eli LillyEnfield facility an affiliate?
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A: | don't—I don’t know. Is that here in 9.1.1?

* * *

Q: Do you know the corporate entity that the Eli Lilly Enfield
facility operates under?

A: | don’t know.

Id. at 38:1-25 (objections omitted).

It is well-settled that “[a] parent corporati and its wholly-owned subsidiary are separate
and distinct legal entities.Am. Int’l Grp., Inc. v. Cornerstone Businesses,,|IBZ2 So. 2d 333,
336 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) (citin@ladding Corp. v. RegisteP93 So. 2d 729, 732 (Fla. 3d DCA
1974)) (discussing this rule ineahcontext of contract law).Cambal’'s Report, nevertheless,
clearly indicates that any valtion was conducted thi respect to Eli lUly and the Enfield
Facility. SeeCambal Report, ECF No. [183-2} 6 (stating that the pert addresses the “costs
incurred by Eli Lilly and Companyas a result of the theft amdbting that the opinion is based
on “certain accounting records and other infororatof Eli Lilly and Company”). Cambal's
disorientation at deposition d@eot belie this fact.

il. “Transfer-In Price”

A proper damages calculation will “place thaiptiff in the same financial position []
that [it] occupied before the property was damagédckean Elec. Co. \Hughes Labs., Inc636
So. 2d 112, 114 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (citiAggonaut Ins. Co. v. May Plumbing Cd74 So. 2d
212 (Fla. 1985)). In the context loist property, this generallgquires damages to be measured
“based upon the market value of g@perty on the date of the losdd. (citing Jacksonville, T.
& K.W. Ry. Co. v. Peningar Land, Transp. & Mfg. Cp9 So. 661, 679 (189Qurther citations
omitted)). Defining a property’s “market value” alone is insufficient to properly compensate the

plaintiff: “[tjhe proper measuref market value ‘is dependent upthre choice of the appropriate

54



economic market which will achieve the objectiok making the injured party whole, while
avoiding any unjust enrichment.’"Nat’l R.R. Passenger Corp. Rountree Transp& Rigging,
Inc., 286 F.3d 1233, 1245-46 (11th Cir. 2002) (cittbgean Elec.636 So. 2d at 114). Stated
simply, a proper estimation of damages will congage plaintiff for the market value as set by
the appropriate market whigsoiding unjust enrichmentSee id.

According to Tyco, the transfer-in price,@dculated by Cambal, ruadoul of the unjust
enrichment condition because itamgly includes a profit componengeeTyco MSJ, ECF No.
[176] at 19-20. National Union sponds, asserting that the trarsh price reflects the market
value of the inventory “at the time it arrived aé thnfield [Flacility in the Eli Lilly distribution
chain.” Nat'l Union Resp., ECF No. [242] at 10-11. Although Cambal’s Report is terse and
unclear in this respect, Cambal’s testimony if tite transfer-in priceoes not include a profit
component that would be realizafler the inventory was sold down the supply chain.

As an aside, Tyco’s contention that #eclusion of National Uin’'s damages theory
would necessitate judgment asmatter of law is without merit. Even if the Court were to
exclude Cambal's assessment and utilizatiotheftransfer-in price as fundamentally improper
under controlling precedent, summary judgment on National Union’s claims would still not be
warranted. The contversy here surroundleoryof damages and whether the transfer-in price
is a fitting calculation. Whether damagesre sustained at all cannot be dispdtecEli Lilly
has clearly suffered damages as a result eftleft and Tyco’s purpted negligence and the

transfer-in price is an acceptable hwat of calculating such damages.

% This is further evidenced by ©g’s retention of a damagespert, Richard Manning, who has
opined that National Union’s damages wohkl approximately $4.3 million. Manning Report,
ECF No. [158-4] at 12.
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Eli Lilly’s transfer price sgtem (“TPS”) “details a margin for Eli Lilly’s products based
on the net effective price.'SeeCambal Report, ECF No. [183-2] &b. In his Report, Cambal
states that “[tlhe transfer price system utilizglvance pricing agreements with each affiliate,
local taxing authorityand an acceptable profit margin Id. (emphasis added). Reading this
language in a vacuum, it appears that the temnsfprice does, in fact, account for profit.
However, Cambal’'s deposition testimony clarifieattthis is not the «@; Cambal repeatedly
and explicitly notes that the traesfin price does not takato account lost @fits, noting that if
it did, the valuation would be considerably higher:

Q: Does [the transfer-in @] include what it would cost—
what Eli Lilly would have earned if they sold that in the

open market?

A: No. No.

Q

Did you actually ever evaluate or consider how much that
amount—that value of invemty would be worth if Eli
Lilly had actually sold it?

| have considered it.

And is it considerablynore than that number?

It should be in the 60 million range.

o » O 2

So you did not include thaimber in the value of what the
sustained loss was at the time of the burglary?

A: No, | did not.
Cambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF No. [245-13] at 134:16-135:14 (objections omggsl)also
Cambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF No4R11] at 55:5-24. In fact, Cambal discounted the transfer-
in calculation by 4.5% to accoufr profit, as well as 24.9% foto account for Eli Lilly’s
overhead expenses. Cambal Depo. ExeefpCF No. [245-13ht 124:10-12, 124:23-125:25

(“The 29.4 is the impact of the profit and thesttaot associated witthe product.”), 126:1-15
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(transfer-in price does not inclugeofit). Thus, Tyco’s contdion that the transfer-in price
accounts for lost profits is contravened by Cambal’s testimony.

The proper measure of damages “place[s] thenpif in the same financial position []
that [it] occupied before the property was damage@cean Ele.636 So. 2d at 114 (citation
omitted). Cambal’s assessment fits the bill:

Q: So the transfer-in value, in your estimation, based on the
research that you did with the company, evaluated what the
arm’s length transaction woultk to conduct—to bring the
inventory that was stolen frotime Enfield [F]acility back
to the Enfield [Flacility?

A: Yes.

Q: And is that what the Enfield [F]acility would be like, but
for the burglary?

A: Yes.
Cambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF N@45-12] at 120:24-121:12 (objections removed). The analysis
was conducted in a “but-for” fashion, that is, it is designed “to determine what would be
necessary to bring Eli Lilly’s Enfield, Connectidacility back to the condition it was in, but for
the burglary that took place.3ee idat 116:3-25. After having myd meetings with Eli Lilly’s
representatives, Cambal determinieat the transfer-in pze “was the true cosof the inventory.
Id. at 105:6-11. According to Cambal, he empbbyetrust-but-verify analysis, relying on Eli
Lilly’'s representations, but independently confirming that the transfer-in measurement was
correct and otherwise appropriatéd. at 107:19-109:1. In so da, Cambal concluded that a
transfer-in price percentage of 70.6 was appatg@rwhere the remaining 29.4 represented both
the profit margin and operating expenskk.at 110:3-14. IAir Expressa Court in this District
determined that a similar method was apprapriate measure of damages because it

“encompasse[d] all the costs incurred throughoat[Eli] Lilly supply chain up to a given point
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and all the profit that [] earned in each stégghe supply chain up to that pointSee Eli Lilly &
Co. v. Air Exp. Int'l USA, In¢.602 F. Supp. 2d 1260, 1278-79 (S.D. Fla. 2G93y in part,
vacated in part, rev’d in part615 F.3d 1305 (11th Cir. 2010)ofecluding that transfer price
“represents the real ‘economic value™).

Tyco requests that this Court ignofer Expressand instead adhere to the binding
precedent oDcean Electricand National Railroad The Court agrees th@tcean Electricand
National Railroadmust be followed; however, these casesdbdictate the result Tyco seeks.

ConcernregardingAir Expressis expected in light of # Eleventh Circuit's reversaf.
Tyco’s unease with comparing this matteAio Expresss equally understandabléir Express
appears to conflict witt©Ocean Electricand National Railroadto the extent thafir Express
found mere replacement costs to depaveanufacturer of expected proftbee602 F. Supp. 2d
at 1278 (citingPolaroid Corp. v. Schuster’'s Express, Iné84 F.2d 349, 351 (1st Cir. 1973)).
The measure of damages at issuAimExpresswas the “transfer price,” which the Court found
to be “the price at which Lilly could sell the insulbroducts to the next @fate or third-party in
the supply chain.”ld. This construction, therefore, accounts for profits not realized afieil
the inventory was sold to the next affiliate down the supply ch&ee id. In contrast, the
transferin price represents the price the Enfield Rcilvould be requiredo pay in order to
replacethe inventory. SeeCambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF N@45-12] at 120:24-121:12. The
transfer-in price, according to Cambal, repras the price the Enfield Facility would be
required to pay to replace the goods from its affiligtehe supply chain, not down the supply

chain as was the case Air Express In short, the daulation as dictated by Cambal is

3 On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit expressly e to address whether the district court had
erred in calculating damages based upon the transfer fiickilly & Co. v. Air Exp. Int'l USA,
Inc., 615 F.3d 1305, 1312 n.3 (11th Cir. 2010).
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distinguishable from the one advancedfin Express and does not account for profits which
would not be realized until the Enfield Facilitylédhe inventory to an affiliate or third-party.
Rather than rely on the reasoning Aof Express the Court finds strict application @cean
ElectricandNational Railroadto be appropriate.

OceanElectric establishes the rule that the propsasure of damages for damage to a
stock of goods is the replacement cost and ahgrassociated expenses, not the retail selling
price. See636 So. 2d at 115-16 (“The owner of a stoflgoods held for sale, which has been
damaged or destroyed, is entitled to recovedamages, the reasonable cost of replacing such
goods, which includes the wholesatost at the time of the losglus any other reasonable
expenses incurred in the replacement.”). Caiabanalysis conforms to this decreeésee
Cambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF No. [245-12] at 220121:12 (stating that the transfer-in price
was the cost to bring the inventory that wasestdrom the Enfield Facility back to the Enfield
Facility). Further, whileNational Railroadprovides this Court with instruction on the rule of
law governing damages, it is factually dissimilar.

In National Railroad the Eleventh Circuit determingbat a subrogee’s damages theory
was “fundamentally flawed” because it was prathd on the “declared value” of the property
under the insurance pajiowvith its insured. See286 F.3d at 1245. Because the insurance
valuation included a profit component, the dansagalculation unjustly eithed the subrogee,
permitting it to recover profits “that were never lost in the first pladd.”at 1245-46 (citation
omitted and emphasis removed). Even after removing the profit component, the damages
calculation still resulted in unjust enrichmemtere the price dictatebly the insurance policy
was not reflective of #hactual cash value tfie damaged productd. at 1246-47. In fact, the

policy included an arbitrary markup that wag reflective of any losactually sustained by the
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insured. Id. Thus, the Eleventh Circuit explicitly ldethat “an insured party whose property has
been damaged cannot force a third-party tortfleés pay out in damages a negotiated figure
between insurer and insured that reflects conteants that inflate the value of the propertyl”
at 1247 (affirming district court’'s exasion of the damages evidence).
Unlike the attempted calculation Mational Railroad Cambal’'s assessment appears to
be independent of any formula required byadbetract between National Union and Eli Lilly:
Q: Did you change the value of domestic manufactured
product from standard cost to transfer-in price because
that's what the insurance policy required you to do?
A: No.
Q: So why did you change it?
| had meetings with Eli Lilly and their representatives so
that we can value the productth¢ Enfield [Flacility. And
we did some tests, we loakeat the data that we were
provided and what we didas | believe reasonable.
SeeCambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF No. [245-h1]7/7:21-78:9 (objections omittedee alsd&ECF
No. [245-12] at 113:15-25 (“[A]t the time of thesk right, that it wa valued at cost for
purposes of insurance, but that was done inré&yro However, Cambal also testified to the
contrary:
Q: Who instructed you to use the transfer-in price?
A: Well, that was—that was how | read the policy.
Cambal Depo. Excerpts, ECF No. [177-20] at12216 (objections omitted). Thus, it remains

unclear as to whether the calculated transferice is simply the value National Union owed

Eli Lilly pursuant to thecontract between the twd. Nonetheless, Cambal emphasized that his

% |t is interesting to note that Cambal'sluation of the stolen and damaged property is
$2,264,836 greater than the amount Nationabbpiaid Eli Lilly under the contract.
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analysis was conducted with respect to the Enfeldility, that is, that the cost to replace the
goods was determined based on the precise location in the supply SkatiCF No. [245-11]

at 95:10-18 (taking issue with the opposingpert’'s report because the analysis was not
conducted with respect to theesgjfic location but, rather, damages were calculated based on Eli
Lilly as a worldwide entity)see alsd&=CF No. [245-12] at 117:2-10.

This matter is further plagued by Richardviang’s grossly disparate damages estimate.

In his report, Manning concludes that damages in this case should be limited to $4,366,561.00,
which represents the pure manufacturing costs of the stolen and damaged pharmaceuticals.
Manning Report, ECF No. [158-4] at 12. Camba#stimony reveals that the transfer-in price
values the lost inventory at the proper pointhe supply chain, accounting for certain intangible
costs, but excluding other factors such as ppuftentially realized pésale. Manning, on the

other hand, is in strong sigreement with the use of tramsfe price. Thus, while Cambal’'s
deposition testimony seems to belie Tyco’s eatibn that the transfer-in price improperly
includes down-the-line prit§, the Court is once agapresented with a batttd the experts.

The Court finds that Cambal’s testimony supgdine conclusion that the transfer-in price
represents the cost to replace the inventory stolen and damaged as a consequence of the March
14th burglary. The transfer-in price values thst imventory at the praw point in the supply
chain, the Enfield Facility, and wha it accounts for certain intgible costs, it excludes other
factors such as profit which walihot be realized aftehe sale of the invegory. In sum, the
transfer in price is the replacement cost orgtiee Eli Lilly would berequired to pay to place
the same inventory back in the Enfield FagiliThe mere fact that the insurance contract
between Eli Lilly and National Uan sets a replacement value dncord with the transfer-in

price does not preclude the uskthis valuation. While the Eleventh Circuit’'s decision in
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National Railroad precludes a subrogee fromorcing the terms of the contract onto the
tortfeasor, it did not foreclosthe possibility that the insuramccontract contains a correct
approximation of damages. Situations may awbere the insurance contract properly sets a
“reasonable cost of replacingetlyoods” including “wholesale coat the time of the loss, plus
any other reasonable expensesimned in the replacementOcean Electric636 So. 2d at 115-
16. Accordingly, the Court finds that the transteprice is the appropriate measure of damages.
To the extent that Cambalt®stimony includes some element of profit or other manner of
speculative or unrealized cosssich testimony would, undoubtedhe inappropriate at trial.

E. National Union’s FDUTPA Claim Fails

The gravamen of National Union’s FDUTPA ctais that Tyco held itself out to Eli Lilly
as being “capable of safeguarding the confidahtiaf Eli Lilly’s security infrastructure and
existing [security] system.”"SeeAmend. Compl., ECF No. [27] 4 165. First, Tyco contends
that National Union’s insured, Eli Lilly, admithat Tyco did not engage in any deceptive or
unfair practices.Id. at 23-25. Second, according to Tybdi@ational Union fails to demonstrate
actual damagesld. at 25-26. It is the third element of Nathal Union’s FDUTPA claim, actual
damages, that supports the grant of summary judgasethis element fails as a matter of law.

FDUTPA was enacted “[tjo protect the consuming public and legitimate business
enterprises from those who engage in unfaethods of competition, or unconscionable,
deceptive, or unfair acts or practices in thadit of any trade or commerce.” Fla. Stat. §
501.202(2). “In order to succeed in a claim unther FDUTPA, a plaintiff must prove: ‘(1) a
deceptive act or unfair practice;) (Rausation; and (3) actual damagesDouble AA Int'l Inv.
Grp., Inc. v. Swire Pac. Holdings, In&74 F. Supp. 2d 1344, 1353 (S.D. Fla. 2009) (quoting

Rollins, Inc. v. Butland951 So. 2d 860, 869 (Fla. 2d DCA 2)06Although FDUTPA does not
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explicitly define the term “deception,” the prowss of the Act are to b&onstrued liberally.”
Fla. Stat. 8 501.202. Nevertheless, couréve determined that a deception undeder
FDUTPA occurs when there i|‘representation, omission, or gdree that is likely to mislead
the consumer acting reasonabiythe circumstances, to the consumer’s detrimegtdtnick v.
Premier Sales Groypt80 F.3d 1281, 1284 (11th Cir. 20(@itation and quotation omittedyee
also Rolling 951 So. 2d at 869 (“A deceptive practicease that is ‘likely to mislead’
consumers.”). “This standardg@res a showing of f@bable, not possiblaleception’ that is
‘likely to cause injury to aeasonable relying consumer.Zlotnick 480 F.3d at 1284 (quoting
Millennium Commc’ns & Fulfillmentlnc. v. Office of the Att'y Gen761 So. 2d 1256, 1263
(Fla. 3d DCA 2000)).

While some courts have hinted that the caosaequirement requires a plaintiff to prove
that the consumer actually relied on the deceptive practice, seeKasgyy. Mansiana Ocean
Residences, LLC08-CV-21492-FAM, 2009 WL 825763, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 25, 2009)
(dismissing claim because Plafffiailed to state that the atied deceptive act “caused him to
enter into the contract . . . caused him to act differently img@ way”), the Eleventh Circuit has
plainly resolved this issue, statirigat “FDUTPA does not requira plaintiff to prove actual
reliance on the alleged conductCold Stone Creamery, Inc. v. Lenora Foods |, LB32 F.
App’x 565, 567 (11th Cir. 2009) (quotation omittes@e also Davis v. Powertel, In@.76 So. 2d
971, 973 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (“A party asserting a deceptive trade practice claim need not show
actual reliance on the representation or omission at iss8éatg, Office of Attorney Gen., Dep’t
of Legal Affairs v. Commerce Commercial Leasing, 945 So. 2d 1253, 1258 (Fla. 1st DCA
2007) (“A deceptive or unfair tradpractice constitutes a somewhatque tortious act because,

although it is similar to a claim of fraud, it isffdirent in that, unlike fraud, a party asserting a
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deceptive trade practice claim nesat show actual reliance onretinepresentation or omission at
issue.” (internal quotation omitted)). Instead of actual reliance, a plaintiff must simply prove that
“the alleged practice was likely to deceinae consumer acting reasonably in the same
circumstances.Cold Stone332 F. App’x at 567.
I Causation
On March 2, 2015, Fred Larsen was produced as Eli Lilly’s 30(b)(6) representa&ee.
Larsen Deposition, ECF No. [185-2] 1. Among other things, Larsen was questioned regarding
Eli Lilly’s position on varioudacts critical to this litigaon, including ultimate issues:
Q: Is it Eli Lilly’s belief thatAmaury and Amed Villa obtained
confidential information concerning Eli Lilly’s security
equipment and monitoring system that [Tyco] compiled,
maintained, and stored in Boca Raton, Florida, and caused
that information to be removed?
A: That is not our belief.
Id. at 151:5-11. Most notably, Larsen openlyn#td that he was not aware of any false

statements made by Tyco regarding its fidelity:

Q: Mr. Larsen, what false atements or inducements did
[Tyco] make to Eli Lilly regarding [Tyco’s] ability to
safeguard and protect infortran furnished by Eli Lilly to
[Tyco]?
A: I’'m not aware of any.
Id. at 156:6-11. Tyco asserts that National Uniosuigject to these concessions as if they were
its own because “a subrogee ‘stands in the shafeie subrogor and isntitled to all of the
rights of its subrogor, but also suffers all of the liabilities to whioé subrogor would be
subject.” Progressive Am. Ins. Co. v. United Stat8@$3 F. Supp. 2d 1318, 1322 (M.D. Fla.
2012) (quotingAlistate Insurance Co. \Metropolitan Dade Counfy36 So. 2d 976, 978 (Fla.

3d DCA 1983));see also St. Paul Guardian Ins. Co. v. United Stat&é3 F. Supp. 2d 1349,
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1356 (S.D. Fla. 2000) (“[The subrogee of the insustdhds in the shoes its insured and can
have no greater rights . . . .” (quotiktigh v. General American Life Ins. C&19 So. 2d 459
(Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (alteration in originaff). Other than the bald assertion that Tyco’s reliance
on Progressiveand St. Paulis “misplaced,” National Union makeno effort to discuss the cited
cases. SeeNat'|l Union Resp., ECF No. [242] at 16. §Court finds that Li@en’s concessions
do not preclude National Union’s FDUTPA claim.

Larsen’s statement is not unequivocal, he mesties that he is unaware of any falsities.
While this statement is probative of whether Tyeas engaged in a deceptive practice, it is not
dispositive. As noted, “FDUTPAloes not require a plaintitb prove actual reliance on the
alleged conduct.”Cold Stone332 F. App’x at 567 (citation omitted)All that is required of the
plaintiff is to prove that the alleged unfaor deceptive practice “was likely to deceive a
consumer acting reasonably in the same circumstandds.Davis 776 So. 2d at 974 (noting
that the standard “does not regugubjective evidence of reliance’Because the standard is an
objective one, the fact that Blilly itself may not have beedeceived is not conclusive, although
it is indicative of the strength of National Unisntlaim. An issue remains as to whether a
reasonable consumer is likely to be deceivsd Tyco’'s alleged misrepresentations and,

therefore, this element istedied for FDUTPA purposes.

% Although National Union contendsat these cases do not applyehét provides nothing more
than a conclusory assertion that they are inagple and declines to delve into how or why.
Although bothProgressiveandSt. Paul Guardian Insare factually distinguishable, they support
the proposition that a subrogee will be bound to the decisions of its subggressive 913

F. Supp. 2d at 1322-23 (subrogee subjectinme limits imposed on the subrogor under
applicable law);St. Paul Guardian Ins.117 F. Supp. 2d at 1356 (subeegsubject to contract
entered into by the subrogor),
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. Actual Damages

Next, Tyco argues that National UniorFOUTPA claim fails as National Union has
presented no evidence of actual damageEseTyco MSJ, ECF No. [176)t 26-26. At this point,
National Union’s FDUTPA clan fails to pass muster.

FDUTPA permits recovery for “actual damagesRolling 951 So. 2d at 869. “Actual
damages” does not include consequential damadds. Eclipse Med., Inc. v. Am. Hydro-
Surgical Instruments, Inc262 F. Supp. 2d 1334, 1357 (S.D. Fla. 1960y sub nom. Eclipse
Med., Inc. v. Am. Hydro-Surgica235 F.3d 1344 (11th Cir. 2000)Florida courts specifically
reject the recovery of conseauial damages under FDUTPA.'Dorestin v. Hollywood Imports,
Inc., 45 So. 3d 819, 824-25 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010) DIBFTPA] does not allow the recovery of
other damages, such as consequential damag&odriguez v. Recovery Performance &
Marine, LLG 38 So. 3d 178, 180 (Fla. 3d DCA 2010) (fder FDUTPA, the term ‘actual
damages’ does not include special or consefipledamages.”). Gwrally, the standard
measurement for actual damages “is the differém¢lee market value of the product or service
in the condition in which it was delivered and its market value in the condition in which it should
have been delivered accordingtihe@ contract of the partiesRollins 951 So. 2d at 869 (quoting
Rollins, Inc. v. Heller454 So. 2d 580, 585 (Fla. 3d DCA 198&¢scribing this measurement as
being “well-defined in the case law”).

As a result of Tyco’s alleged FDUTPAOokation, National Uniorcontends that it has
“suffered loss and damages in excess of $60,000,000.00 for the damage to real property,
inventory and other expensassociated with their loss.SeeAmend. Compl., ECF No. [27] at |
171. These are consequential damages. thdeeno point does National Union’s damages

expert attest to a difference between $kevice as provided and the service ashituld have
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beenprovided. See Rollins951 So. 2d at 869. After citing tlcerrect legal standard garnered
from Rollins, Inc. v. Heller454 So. 2d 580 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984),tidaal Union states that “the
purchase price for the Lilly pharmaceuticals were [sic] impacted by [Tyco’s] failure to protect
the information entrusteto it.” Nat'l Union Resp., ECHWNo. [242] at 21. National Union
reaches this conclusion without asybstantive analysis whatsoevesee id. More critically,

this statement reflects National Union’s adnossihat the damages sought are some manner of
lost profits or inventory, not, as it would Jethe Court believe, the difference between the
market value of the security services as provaedompared with the sedy services as they
should have been provided.See Nyquist v. Randal819 F.2d 1014, 1017 (11th Cir. 1987)
(noting that “lost profits may indeed be the messential example of ‘consequential damages”™
under FDUTPA).

Because National Union has failed to provaig evidence of actual damages despite a
protracted and ample discovery period, biasl Union cannot maintain an action under
FDUTPA and summary judgment on Count VIII of the Amended Complaint, ECF No. [27], is
granted. See, e.g., Lustig v. Bear Stearns Residential Mortgage ,Ctkp.F. App'x 224, 225
(11th Cir. 2011) (affirming grant of summanydgment where plaintifffailed to present any
evidence to establish” aneghent of his FDUTPA claim).

V. CONCLUSION

Litigation in this matter is undoubtedly cohap, involving a variety of issues, clashes
between experts, and disagreement on the.fabtespite the astronomical summary judgment
record presented, only one claim is susceptiblesolution in light of the guiding principles of
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 and associated precedEnt.the foregoing reasons, it is heréb DERED

AND ADJUDGED as follows:
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1. Defendants, Tyco Integrated SecurltyyC and ADT Security Services Inc., a
subsidiary of Tyco International dlt, Co.’s Motion for Summary JudgmeBCF
No. [176] is GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART. The Motion is
GRANTED with respect to Count VIlbf the Amended Complaint arldENIED
in all other respects.

2. Plaintiff National Union Fire Insuranc8ompany of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, as
subrogee of Eli Lilly and Compgis Motion for Summary JudgmenECF No.
[189], is DENIED.

DONE AND ORDERED in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, this 24ay of June, 2015.

BETH BLOOM
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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Counsel of Record
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